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MAYOR/CEO MESSAGE

The completion of our annual report is an opportune time 
to reflect on the year that was and the achievements of this 
council, economically, environmentally and socially. 

We started the financial year in an overall very strong 
position with the second lowest debt per capita of any 
major Queensland council, achieved through effective 
governance and operation. 

Our sixth consecutive balanced budget of $301 million was 
based on a rate rise of 1.7 per cent, maintaining our six year 
run of rate rises at or below CPI.

Included in the budget was $165.7 million in capital works, 
focused on providing the ‘bread and butter’ infrastructure 
residents deserve.

Council also spent $322 million locally through resources, 
materials and services. 

Importantly, the organisation is well placed for the future 
with long term modelling indicating Council’s ability to 
maintain outstanding levels of service, continue investment 
in infrastructure with an annual capital works program 
averaging $162 million per annum while maintaining an 
average rates rise within CPI expectations over a 10-year 
period.

A prime example of new infrastructure is the Cairns 
Performing Arts Centre, which was officially opened in 
December, marking the largest investment ever in our 
cultural fabric. It’s a state-of-the-art facility that has been 
embraced by the community and visitors, who have been 
able to enjoy the very best touring productions and home-
grown events.

We also enjoyed a major coup in attracting Targa Great 
Barrier Reef, along with a very successful Great Barrier Reef 
Masters Games, which was delivered in-house by Council. 

Events like these not only showcase our region to an 
international audience but provide a major cash injection 
into our economy. 

The broader Cairns economy continues to be a key focus 
of Council.  The most recent data available indicates 
that the Cairns economy grew by 3.3% in 17/18 which is 
above the national growth rate. Unemployment is now at 
record low levels, well below the state average and the 
lowest of any region in QLD (as at July 2019).

Helping to drive this positive employment rate is aided 
by some long-awaited tourism developments which have 
come online and that sector is holding strong for the 
future. Crystalbrook Collection has made a strong entry 
into the Cairns market, whilst the go-ahead was given to 
dredge Trinity Inlet to accommodate larger cruise ships; 
and the Cairns Convention Centre upgrade has been 
confirmed and scheduled. 

However, we aren’t complacent and must be diligent 
to ensure our quality of life is protected by continuing 
to enhance the liveability of the city and securing our 
economic prosperity well into the future. 

We spent a significant amount of time developing the 
Cairns Shared Vision2050, which won the consensus of 
business, tourism and industry leaders, and identified 
the key projects, investment and policy decisions needed 
to support an aspirational vision for the region’s future. It 
became the blueprint for the development of a City Deal 
proposal (which is a genuine partnership between the 
three levels of government).  We are continuing to work 
with the State and Federal Governments on progressing 
the City Deal.   

The key to our liveability is our natural environment. We 
are confidently on track to meet our 50% greenhouse 
emissions reduction target by 2020.  

Our objectives for the coming year remain clear. Council 
will continue to assume strong civic leadership and 
decision making whereby economic, environmental, and 
community considerations are equally embraced for the 
well-being of the community, both present and future.

We are engaged in a range of environmental issues 
including the introduction of renewables, roof top solar, 
pumped hydro, water run-off and quality in the Great 
Barrier Reef lagoon, ceasing the use of single-use plastic 
and the reduction in greenhouse gas emissions.



OUR VISION, GOALS 
AND VALUES...
Our Vision

Our Purpose

Our Strategic Goals

Value our 
natural 

environment, 
lifestyle and 
surroundings

Support 
and respect 
distinctive 
and vibrant 

communities

Be innovative 
and creative, 

grow and 
diversify our 

economy

To serve the community.

• Economy
• Natural Assets
• Liveability
• Community and Culture
• Serving the Community

Each year Cairns Regional 
Council produces an Annual 
Report in accordance with 
Division 3 of the Local 
Government Regulation 2012.

To request a copy of this report 
please contact Cairns Regional 
Council or alternatively you 
can download a copy from our 
website

www.cairns.qld.gov.au

ADMINISTRATION CENTRE
119-145 Spence Street
Cairns Queensland 4870

POSTAL ADDRESS
PO Box 359 Cairns Q 4870 
Phone: 1300 692 247        
Email: council@cairns.qld.gov.au

THIS REPORT
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2018/19 RESULTS AT A GLANCE

This community financial report shows a summary of the Financial Statements with the aim of providing 
understandable information to the members of our community. The use of graphs allows readers to 
easily evaluate Council’s financial performance and financial position. In addition, this report includes key 
financial statistics and ratios that can also be useful indicators of Council’s performance. 

Cairns Regional Council has performed well throughout the 2018/19 financial year, finishing the year with a $236K 
operating surplus. Including one-off implementation costs of $6.9M associated with Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) 
software, the adjusted operating position is a $6.6M deficit.  This expenditure was in line with budget expectations, 
however due to a change in accounting treatment was moved from capital expenditure to operating expenditure.

Council continued to invest heavily in community infrastructure by delivering a capital works program in excess 
of $152.5M. Council was able to achieve these results with a record low rates rise and without compromising its 
exceptional service to the community.

$ Million

Operating Revenue 307.2

Operating Expenses 307.0

Operating Position 0.2

ERP Implementation 6.9

Adjusted Operating Position (6.6)

Capital Income 59.8

Capital Expenses 26.9

Net Result 26.3

Total Assets 4,007.9

Total Liabilities 203.8

Net Community Assets 3,804.1

Total Capital Works Expenditure 152.5
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2018/19 RESULTS AT A GLANCE

The Financial Statements in this report cover a 12-month period ending 30 June 2019. The Financial Statements contained 
in this report include: 

• Statement of Comprehensive Income - displays Council’s revenue and expenses with the resulting profit or loss 
amount known as the net result attributable to Council. This also displays Council’s other comprehensive income.

• Statement of Financial Position - displays the assets (what we own), liabilities (what we owe) and community equity 
(total assets minus total liabilities). Community equity can be a reflection of how healthy the position of Council is at 
any given point in time. 

• Statement of Cash Flows - reports how revenue received and expenses paid impact on Council’s cash balances.

• Statement of Changes in Equity - presents a summary of transfers to and from equity accounts including retained 
surplus, capital and other reserves.

• Notes to the Financial Statements - provides a detailed breakdown of all significant items in the Financial Statements 
and what these items represent. 

• Long-Term Measures of Financial Sustainability - presents three sustainability indicators that have been set up by 
the Department of Local Government, Racing and Multicultural Affairs to help monitor the long-term sustainability 
of all councils across Queensland. 

BACKGROUND
ASSUMPTIONS AND PRINCIPLES:

Under the requirements of the Local Government Regulation 2012, Council is required to prepare general purpose Financial 
Statements for the period. This report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and complies 
with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2009 and the Local Government Regulation 2012. 

Council controls and manages infrastructure assets that are largely unique to the public sector. These infrastructure assets 
include roads, bridges, footpaths, water reticulation and sewerage assets, which generally have very long useful lives and 
can only be used for providing local government services. The costs associated with the maintenance, depreciation and 
replacement of these assets form a material part of Council’s annual expenditure. 

Council continues to implement its Asset Management Plans in order to facilitate sound strategic asset management 
decisions.

Council’s Debt Policy aims to finance capital works and new assets to the greatest extent possible from revenue, grants and 
subsidies. Operating activities or recurrent expenditure cannot be funded by borrowings.

The business activities of Cairns Water and Cairns Resource Recovery (Cairns Waste) return a dividend to Council in 
recognition that they have been established to further good governance. Dividends are then utilised to provide services and 
infrastructure to the community.
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CORPORATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE:

Revenue for the 2018/19 financial year is 
sourced from various items as shown in the 
following graph.

The majority of Council’s revenue (70.6%) is 
sourced from net rates and utility charges. 
Another significant source of revenue is capital 
grants, subsidies and donations (16.3%), which 
are received solely for the purpose of funding 
current and future capital works in order 
for Council to continue to supply important 
infrastructure to the community.

Total Revenue $367.0 Million

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EXPENSES:
Materials and services and employee costs 
make up 64.7% of the total expenditure for 
Council. Council has a strong labour workforce 
to provide maintenance, water and waste 
services, planning, community, sport and 
cultural services and capital infrastructure for 
the community.

Materials and services include advertising, 
agency and temporary staff costs, audit fees, 
communication and IT, grants to community 
groups, electricity, external services and hire, 
garbage collection services, rentals and repairs 
and maintenance. Refer to note 6 of the 
Financial Statements for further details. Total Expenses $340.7 Million

Employee Benefits $105M

Materials and Services $115.6M

Depreciation and Amortisation
$89.7M

Capital Expenses $26.9M

Finance Costs $3.6M

Rates and Levies $259.2M

Fees and Charges $24.3M

Interest Revenue $3.2M

Other Recurrent Revenue $12.7M

Operating - Grants, Subsidies,
Contributions & Donations $7.9M

Capital - Grants, subsidies, Contributions
& donations $59.8M
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CORPORATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The operating position is calculated by taking 
total operating expenses ($307.0M) from total 
operating revenue ($307.2M) and does not 
include revenue or expenditure amounts for 
capital projects or ERP implementation costs.  

Council’s operating position as at 30 June 2019 
is a surplus of $236K which has decreased from 
a surplus of $1.8M in the 2017/18 financial 
period. 

This graph shows the operating position for 
2018/19 compared to the operating position 
for the 2017/18 period.

OPERATING POSITION

NET RESULT
Council’s net result, given below, reflects the operating position above plus capital revenue and expenses. 
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CORPORATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Capital revenue represents the following income streams:

• Donated assets – infrastructure assets contributed by developers such as roads, drains, sewerage mains 
and water mains represent non-cash revenue which is not available for Council operations or future capital 
expenditure.

• Developer contributions – cash contributions made by developers to fund future infrastructure assets have 
restrictions placed on their use and are constrained to capital reserves.

• Government subsidies and grants – this represents income received for the sole purpose of funding capital 
works projects.

Capital expenses predominantly represent the value of assets replaced or disposed of throughout the year.

Further details on capital revenue and expenses are contained in notes 4 and 7 of the Financial Statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ASSETS

2018-19 2017-18

$ Million $ Million

Current Assets 57.3 58.3
Non-Current Assets 3,950.6 3,909.7
Total Assets 4,007.9 3,968.0

Council assets as at 30 June 2019 total just over 
$4.0B. This includes $57.3M of current assets 
(liquid assets or amounts due to be received 
within 12 months) and $3.9B of non-current 
assets. Property, plant and equipment make up 
98.6% of total assets.

The graph to the left shows a breakdown 
of property, plant and equipment by asset 
category.

Property, Plant & Equipment $3.9B

Transport assets, $1,333.5M Sewerage, $701.0M
Water, $532.2M Drainage, $504.3M
Land & site improvements, $344.0M Buildings & other structures, $337.3M
Work in progress, $109.6M Plant, equipment & other assets, $72.7M
Solid waste disposal, $12.7M Intangible assets, $3.3M
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
LIABILITIES

2018-19 2017-18

$ Million $ Million

Current Liabilities 75.6 61.8
Non-Current Liabilities 128.2 120.0
Total Liabilities 203.8 181.8

Total liabilities as at 30 June 2019 are $203.8M. This includes $75.6M of current liabilities (due to be paid out within 
12 months) and $128.2M of non-current liabilities. Liabilities mostly consist of loans, amounts owing to suppliers and 
amounts owing to employees for leave entitlements.

Interest bearing liabilities represent the largest component within Council’s liabilities and consist of loans from 
Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC). Council loan borrowings are discussed further in the Queensland Treasury 
Debt section.

The following graph shows a breakdown of liabilities by category.

Total Liabilities $203.8 Million

Non-current borrowings,
$106.9M

Current trade and other
payables, $55.1M

Non-current provisions, $21.3M

Current borrowings, $14.3M

Current provisions, $5M

Other current liabilities, $1.1M
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

BORROWINGS

During the year, Council drew down $20.0M of new loans with QTC to assist in the funding of Council’s capital works 
program. Council also maintained a Working Capital Facility of $60M with QTC, however there were no working 
capital drawdowns as at 30 June 2019. The total loan balance at year end was $121.2M.

The following table outlines the current (due within 12 months) and non-current (due after 12 months) allocation of 
outstanding loan borrowings.

2018-19 2017-18
$ Million $ Million

Current Borrowings 14.3 11.9
Non-Current Borrowings 106.9 98.8
Total QTC Borrowings 121.2 110.7

Principal and interest repayments are made on these borrowings on a monthly basis in accordance with the terms 
and conditions set by QTC. The repayment terms are reviewed on a regular basis in order to ensure that the expected 
loan term aligns with market movements.

The following table shows the split of Council’s debt service payments between principal and interest.

2018-19 2017-18
$ Million $ Million

Principal 11.8 8.8
Interest 2.4 1.7
Total Debt 14.2 10.5

As at 30 June 2019 Council’s debt per rateable property is $1,665 (2018: $1,534).
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SUSTAINABILITY RATIOS

Ratio Description Formula
Bench-
mark

2018-
2019

2017-
2018

Asset 
Sustainability 
Ratio

This is an approximation of the 
extent to which the infrastructure 
assets managed by Council are being 
replaced as they reach the end of 
their useful lives.

Capital Expenditure 
on renewals

>90% 106% 101%
Depreciation 

expense
Net Financial 
Liabilities Ratio

This is an indicator of the extent to 
which the net financial liabilities 
of Council can be serviced by its 
operating revenues.

Total Liabilities less 
Current Assets

<=60% 48% 42%
Total Operating 

Revenue
Operating 
Surplus Ratio

This is an indicator of the extent 
to which revenues raised cover 
operational expenses only or are 
available for capital funding purposes.

Net Operating 
Surplus

0-10% (2%) 1%
Total Operating 

Revenue
Adjusted 
Operating 
surplus ratio*

This is an indicator of the extent 
to which revenues raised cover 
operational expenses only or are 
available for capital funding purposes. 

Adjusted Net 
Operating Surplus

0-10% 0%* 1%
Total Operating 

Revenue

* Excluding ERP costs of $6.6M, the adjusted operating surplus ratio would be 0% which is within the DLGRMA benchmark range. This expenditure was in line with budget expectations, 
however due to a change in accounting treatment was moved from capital expenditure to operating expenditure. As the ERP costs do not form part of Council’s routine operating activities, 
Council is satisfied that it has sufficient revenue to cover operational and capital funding expenditure.

CONCLUSION
Council has finished the 2018/19 financial year with a $236K operating surplus and has continued strong investment 
in community infrastructure through the delivery of a capital works program in excess of $152.5M.

The above results leave Council well placed for the future with long term modelling indicating Council’s ability to 
maintain outstanding levels of service, continue investment in infrastructure with an annual capital works program 
averaging $162M per annum while maintaining an average rates rise within CPI expectations over the 10-year period.

Further details and breakdowns of all of the above items can be found in the Financial Statements and the detailed 
notes to the Financial Statements.
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CAPITAL WORKS PROJECTS

During the 2018/19 financial year expenditure on capital works was in excess of $152.5M.  The following graph 
provides a breakdown of the capital works for 2018/19 by asset category.

Drainage
3%

Transport
25%

Libraries and 
Community 

Development
1%

Water
17%

Waste
1%

Wastew ater
15%

Regulatory Services
1%

Parks and Leisure
13%

Buildings and Facilities
1%

Parks and Foreshore
2%

Cultural Services
13%

Information Technology
4%

Fleet
4%
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CAPITAL WORKS PROJECTS

Capital Works Highlights

Council incurred expenditure on the following capital works projects during the period of 01 July 2018 to 30 June 2019.

$’000

CULTURAL SERVICES

The Precinct - Cairns Performing Arts Centre 17,708

Courthouse refurbishment 1,049

 18,757

PARKS AND LEISURE

Holloways Beach Improvement Plan 2,875

Northern Beaches Leisure Trail 2,616

Redlynch Sport and Rec Park 2,106

Swimming pool renewals 1,595

Playground renewals 1,512

Green Patch upgrade 1,309

Esplanade Boardwalk renewal 1,309

Centenary Lakes Boardwalk 1,005

Little Fretwell Park skate facilities 878

Ryan Weare Park cycleway 782

Cattana Wetlands 726

 16,712 

TRANSPORT AND MOBILITY

Pavement rehabilitation 7,886

Road infrastructure renewals 6,447

Suburban Enhancement Program (SEP) 4,211

CBD parking 3,326

Footpath renewals 3,019

Road infrastructure new roads 2,873

Bridge renewals 1,823

Tropical Cyclone Nora renewals 1,287

 30,871

WATER AND WASTE INFRASTRUCTURE

Waste Water infrastructure renewals and upgrades 17,054

Water infrastructure renewals and upgrades 14,713

New water laboratory 7,032

Earlville sewerage upgrade 5,680

Whites Gap Reservoir refurbishment 3,399

47,879
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PARTICULAR RESOLUTIONS

List of the resolutions made under section 206(2). Thresholds reported in Note 10 of the End of Year Statements. 

COUNCILLOR REMUNERATION

The following table shows the total Councillors’ remuneration and Fringe Benefits Tax payments for the 12 month 
period from 01 July 2018 to 30 June 2019.

Differences in super contributions are due to Elected Member’s contribution preferences

COUNCILLORS

Div ELECTED MEMBER
TOTAL 

REMUNERATION 
PAYMENT $

SUPER 
CONTRIBUTIONS $

TOTAL $
FBT 

EXPENSE

M Bob Manning 175,710 21,085 196,795 11,134
1 Brett Moller 103,830 12,460 116,290 6,123
2 John Schilling 103,830 12,460 116,290 4,042
3 Cathy Zeiger 103,830 9,864 113,694 2,753
4 Terry James 119,801 14,376 134,177 -
5 Richie Bates 103,830 12,460 116,290 -
6 Linda Cooper 103,830 9,864 113,694 2,642
7 Max O’Halloran 103,830 12,460 116,290 -
8 Jessie Richardson 103,830 12,460 116,290 3,753
9 Brett Olds 103,830 9,864 113,694 5,690

COUNCILLORS’ EXPENSES REIMBURSEMENT AND FACILITIES PROVIDED

In accordance with the Expenses Reimbursement and Support for Elected Representatives General Policy, Councillors 
are provided with expenditure reimbursements for their vehicles as well as incidental costs such as mobile phone costs, 
meals and taxi fares associated with Council business. 

Councillors are also provided with specific facilities and support as per the following:

Mayor
• Separate office accommodation with secretarial and executive assistant support.

Deputy Mayor
• Separate office accommodation and secretarial/administrative support in accordance with the established

staff structure.
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COUNCILLORS

COUNCILLORS’ EXPENSES REIMBURSEMENT AND FACILITIES PROVIDED

Other Councillors
• Office accommodation and secretarial/administrative support in accordance with the established staff structure

Other Facilities
• Councillors are provided with access to a facsimile, scanner, printer, photocopier and paper shredder for

business use.
• Council will provide to each Councillor the necessary stationary and personalised letterhead including postage

costs, for the undertaking of duties directly associated with their position.
• Councillors are provided with fully maintained and serviced meeting/committee rooms, kitchen amenities and

ablution facilities, which include the supply and laundering of bath linen.
• Meeting/committee room usage is on a Councillor priority basis.
• Councillors are provided with a Council landline telephone in the Council Administration building and a mobile

telephone.
• Each Councillor will be provided with a computer device, as defined by Council’s Information Services Branch

that can be used both at the Council work location and at the Councillor’s home office. Each device will be
provided with appropriate hardware and software applicable to enable Councillors to perform their role. Council
supplied devices may only be used for Council related work.

The table below shows the total reimbursement costs to Councillors for the 12 month period from 01 July 2018 to 30 June 
2019 under this policy.

Div ELECTED MEMBER
VEHICLE 

REIMBURSEMENT
$

VEHICLE COST
$

M Bob Manning - 9,354
1 Brett Moller 9,567 -
2 John Schilling 10,716 -
3 Cathy Zeiger 4,935 -
4 Terry James - -
5 Richie Bates - -
6 Linda Cooper 3,416 -
7 Max O’Halloran - -
8 Jessie Richardson 6,366 -
9 Brett Olds 10,702

45,702 9,354
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COUNCILLORS

The following table displays the Councillors’ attendance at Council meetings for the period of 01 July 2018 to 30 June 2019.

O
rd

in
ar

y

Ca
irn

s S
hi

pp
in

g

Pl
an

ni
ng

 &
 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t*

Sp
or

t &
 

Co
m

m
un

ity
*

Cu
ltu

ra
l 

Se
rv

ic
es

 *

G
ov

er
na

nc
e*

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

Se
rv

ic
es

*

W
at

er
 &

 
W

as
te

*

MEMBERSHIP 21 3 2 2 2 2 2 2

Bob 

Manning

The Mayor serves as the Ex-Officio on all of the Council’s 
Standing Committees and serves as Chairperson at Council’s 
Ordinary Meeting.

16 1 2 2 2 2 2

Brett Moller
Chair of Governance Committee, Member of Planning,  
Environment Committee, Water & Waste Committee and 
Infrastructure Services Committee.

21 2 2 2 2

John 

Schilling

Chair of Infrastructure Services Committee, Member of 
Planning & Environment Committee and Governance 
Committee.

21 2 2 2

Cathy Zeiger

Chair of Sport & Community Services Committee, Member 
of Planning & Environment Committee, Cultural Services 
Committee, Infrastructure Services Committee and Cairns 
Shipping Committee.

21 3 2 2 2 2

Terry James

Chairperson of Planning & Environment Committee, 
Member of Planning & Environment Committee, 
Infrastructure Services Committee and Cairns Shipping 
Committee.

20 2** 1 2

Richie Bates Chair of Water & Waste Committee, Member of Planning & 
Environment Committee and Cultural Services Committee. 20 2 2 2

Linda 

Cooper
Chair of Cultural Services Committee, Member of Planning & 
Environment Committee and Governance Committee. 20 2 2 2

Max 

O’Halloran

Member of Planning & Environment Committee, Sport 
& Community Services Committee and Water & Waste 
Committee.

21 2 2 2

Jessie 

Richardson

Member of Planning & Environment Committee, Cultural 
Services Committee, Sport & Community Services 
Committee and Governance Committee.

20 2 2 2 2

Brett Olds
Member of Planning & Environment Committee, Sport & 
Community Services Committee, Water & Waste Committee 
and Cairns Shipping Committee. 

21 3 2 2 2

* At Council’s August Ordinary Meeting Council dissolved all Standing Committees and scheduled two Ordinary Meetings per month effective September 2018.
**Deputy Mayor, Cr Terry James is attending the Cairns Shipping Committee as the delegate of the Mayor pursuant to s258(1) of the Local Government Act 2009.
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COUNCILLORS

CONDUCT AND PERFORMANCE OF COUNCILLORS

To ensure appropriate standards of conduct and performance are maintained by Councillors, a code of conduct has been 
adopted and a process is in place to deal with complaints. The Code of Conduct for Councillors sets out the standards of 
behaviours expected of Councillors of Cairns Regional Council. The requirements of the code are in addition to the roles, 
responsibilities and obligations of Councillors set out in the Local Government Act 2009.

On 21 May 2018 the Local Government (Councillor Complaints) and Other Legislation Amendment Bill 2018 received ascent. The 
Bill amends the Local Government Act 2009 and the Public Service Act to provide a simpler, more streamlined system for making, 
investigating and determining complaints about councillor conduct in Queensland. The Office of Independent Assessor was 
established in December 2018, prior to the reforms complaints were assessed under the previous Local Government Act 2009 and 
as such the below report is split into two sections. 

Prior to reforms
Complaints recorded in accordance with Section 186 (f) of the Local Government Regulation 2012

(i) complaints about the conduct or performance of Councillors for which no further action was taken
under section 176C(2) of the Act; 3

(ii) complaints referred to the department’s chief executive under section 176C(3)(a)(i) of the Act; 1

(iii) complaints referred to the mayor under section 176C(3)(a)(ii) or (b)Ii) of the Act; 2

(iv) complaints referred to the department’s chief executive under section 176C(4)(a) of the Act; NIL

(v) complaints assessed by the Chief Executive Officer as being about official misconduct; NIL

(vi) complaints heard by a regional conduct review panel; 2

(vii) complaints heard by the tribunal; 1

(viii) complaints to which section 176C(6) of the Act applied. NIL

Section 186(d) the total number of the following during the year - 

(i) orders and recommendations made under section 180 (2) or (4) of the Act; 2

(ii) orders made under section 181 of the Act. 2
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COUNCILLORS
Orders/recommendations in accordance with Section 180(2) or (4) and/or 181 of the Local Government Regulation 2012

(i) the name of each councillor
for whom an order or
recommendation was made;

(ii) a description of
the misconduct or
inappropriate conduct
engaged in;

(iii) a summary of the decision, order or recommendation made for each
councillor.

Cr Richie Bates Repeated breaches of 
the Council’s Code of 
Conduct for Councillors 
when inappropriate 
comments were made to 
the media.

Councillor Bates repeated inappropriate conduct in failing to 
comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct amounts to misconduct. 

Pursuant to section 180 of the Act the Local Government Regional 
Conduct Review Panel (panel) orders that Councillor Bates:

(i) make an apology for his misconduct at the next Ordinary Meeting
after receipt of the decision by Council;

(ii) be counselled by an appropriate departmental officer or delegate
about the misconduct, in particular on his role as a councillor and
conflicts of interest, and how not to repeat the misconduct; and

(iii) pay, within 3 months of the date of this order, to the Cairns
Regional Council the monetary value of seven (7) penalty units.

Cr Richie Bates Repeated breaches of 
the Council’s Code of 
Conduct for Councillors 
when inappropriate 
comments were made to 
the media.

Councillor Bates repeated inappropriate conduct in failing to 
comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct amounts to misconduct. 

Pursuant to section 180 of the Act the Local Government Regional 
Conduct Review Panel (panel) orders that Councillor Bates:

(i) make an apology for his misconduct at the next Ordinary Council
meeting after receipt of the decision by Council;

(ii) be counselled by an appropriate departmental officer or delegate
about the misconduct, in particular on his role as a councillor and
meeting procedure, and how not to repeat the misconduct; and

(iii) pay, within 3 months of the date of this Order, to the Cairns
Regional Council the monetary value of four (4) penalty units.

Cr Brett Olds Breached the Council’s 
Code of Conduct for 
Councillors when  
inappropriate comments 
were made to the 
media.

Pursuant to section 181(2)(a) of the Act the Department of Local 
Government, Racing and Multicultural Affairs make an order 
reprimanding Councillor Olds for the inappropriate conduct. 

Cr Jessie Richardson Breached the Council’s 
Code of Conduct for 
Councillors when 
inappropriate comments 
were made to the 
media.

Pursuant to section 181(2)(a) of the Act the Department of Local 
Government, Racing and Multicultural Affairs make an order 
reprimanding Councillor Richardson for the inappropriate conduct. 
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COUNCILLORS

Section 186(d) the total number of the following during the year:

(i) orders made under section 150I(2) of the Act; NIL

(ii) orders made under section 150AR(1) of the Act; NIL

(iii) decisions, orders and recommendations made under section 150AR(1) of the Act. NIL

Section 186(e) each of the following during the financial year:

(i) the name of each councillor for whom
a decision, order or recommendation
mentioned in paragraph (d) was made;

(ii) a description of the unsuitable
meeting conduct, inappropriate conduct
or misconduct engaged in by each of the
councillors;

(iii) a summary of the decision, order
or recommendation made for each
councillor.

NIL

Section 186(f) the total number of the following during the year:

(i) complaints referred to the assessor under section 150P(2)(a) of the Act by local government entities
for the local government; 12

(ii) matters, mentioned in section 150P(3) of the Act, notified to the Crime and Corruption Commission 2

(iii) notices given under section 150R(2) of the Act; 4

(iv) notices given under section 150S(2)(a) of the Act; 9

(v) decisions made under section 150W(a), (b) and (d) of the Act; 18

(vi) referral notices accompanied by a recommendation mentioned in section 150AC(3)(a) of the Act; NIL

(vii) occasions the local government asked another entity to investigate, under chapter 5A, part 3,
division 5 of the Act for the local government, the suspected inappropriate conduct of a councillor; NIL

(ix) applications heard by the conduct tribunal about the alleged misconduct of a councillor; NIL

CONDUCT AND PERFORMANCE OF COUNCILLORS

Post reforms

The reforms established the Independent Assessor and the Office of the Independent Assessor to investigate 
and deal with the conduct of councillors where it is alleged or suspected to be inappropriate conduct, 
misconduct or, when referred to the Independent Assessor by the Crime and Corruption Commission (CCC), 
corrupt conduct.
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OVERSEAS TRAVEL

The annual report for a financial year must contain information about any overseas travel made by a Councillor or a 
local government employee in an official capacity during the financial year. 

NAME DESTINATION PURPOSE AMOUNT $ NOTE

Bob Manning (Mayor) Arctic ClimateForce Arctic 2019 Expedition 300
Terry James (Deputy Mayor) Latvia Sister Cities engagement 4,697
S Hayward (CRC Ambassador) Latvia Sister Cities engagement 4,292
Bob Manning (Mayor) PNG Meeting with the Board of PNG Rugby 

Football League
2,594

Angelo Finocchiaro 
(Program Leader Economic 
Development)

PNG Tradelinked Cairns & PNG Business 
Delegation

3,952

S Hayward (CRC Ambassador) USA Sister Cities Engagement 486
Simon Page (Manager 
Operations)

Vietnam Australian Water Association Twinning 
Program

437 1

John Bishop (Principal 
Engineer Operations)

Vietnam Australian Water Association Twinning 
Program

437 1

Steve Albrecht (Asset 
Coordinator)

Vietnam Australian Water Association Twinning 
Program

437 1

A Faulkner (Instrumentation 
Electrician)

Zurich Water and Waste Water Seminar 
Endress and Hauser

1,805

J Maull (Team Leader 
Instrumentation)

Zurich Water and Waste Water Seminar 
Endress and Hauser

1,805

Total Overseas Travel  for Councillors and Employees 21,242

1. This overseas travel was largely funded by the Australian Water Association under its Water Operator Partnership 
program. The amount shown above is Council’s expenditure on the travel only.
2. This overseas travel was largely funded by Endress and Hauser. The amount shown above is Council's expenditure 
on the travel only. 
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COMPLAINTS MANAGEMENT

ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION COMPLAINTS

Cairns Regional Council is committed to the principles of natural justice and fairness in all administrative complaint dealings. 

A centralised complaints management process was introduced to allow for better KPI management, cause tracking, continuous 
improvement and reporting through to resolution. The Complaints General Policy and Administration Instruction have been 
reviewed and updated to ensure compliance with the Local Government Regulation 2012.

Reports highlighting all administrative complaints are reviewed by the Executive Team each quarter. 

The annual report for a financial year must contain particulars of - 

(a) (i) the number of administrative action complaints made to the local government; 759*

(a) (ii) the number of administrative action complaints resolved by the local government under the 
complaints management process; 756

(a) (iii) the number of administrative action complaints not resolved by the local government under the 
complaints management process ; 8**

(b) (i) the number of administrative action complaints under paragraph (a)(iii) that were made in a previous 
financial year. NIL

*This number includes Administrative Action Complaints, internal reviews and employee complaints from the public.
**Outstanding at the end of financial year 2018/19

Public Section Ethics 

Council provides the following implementation statements regarding the action taken during the 2018/19 Financial Year to 
comply with the following section: 

Preparation of Codes of Conduct
Cairns Regional Council has the following Codes of Conduct:

• Code of Conduct for Councillors

• Code of Conduct for Staff

Education and Training
Council’s Corporate Induction Program ensures all staff appointed to positions at Council are aware of and understand their 
rights and obligations under the Code of Conduct.

Education and Training
All of Council’s procedures and practices reflect Council’s commitment to the ethical principles and obligations of the Public 
Sector Ethics Act 1994. 

Business Activity Complaints

Cairns Regional Council received no recommendations from the Queensland Competition Authority (QCA) on any competitive 
neutrality complaints under section 52(3). 
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EXPENDITURE ON GRANTS 

The annual report for a financial year must contain a summary of the local government’s expenditure for the financial year on 
grants to community organisations and expenditure from each Councillor’s discretionary fund.

Council has a commitment to facilitating the building of strong, vibrant and robust communities. To assist in achieving this goal, 
Council’s Grant Program provides financial and in kind assistance to community based groups, individuals and organisations that 
are providing programs, activities, events and projects that enrich the diversity of cultural, social, sport and economic development 
opportunities available to the residents of the Cairns Region. 

The desired outcome is to support more creative, innovative and self-reliant communities, where participation in community life 
is enabled and encouraged. 

In the 2018/19 financial year, Council provided the following community grants:

• Mayor’s Discretionary Fund
• Sports and Recreation

 □ Young People In Sport
 □ Go Clubs Infrastructure Assistance
 □ Go Clubs In Kind: Field Maintenance
 □ Go Clubs In Kind: Essentials

• Arts and Cultural
 □ Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF)
 □ Arts and Cultural In Kind
 □ Arts and Cultural Infrastructure

• Community Services
 □ Community Services
 □ Multicultural Month
 □ NAIDOC Week
 □ Youth Week
 □ Disability Action Week

• Events
 □ Local Community Events
 □ Regional Events
 □ Major Tourism Events
 □ Sports Tourism Events
 □ Events In Kind
 □ Christmas and New Year’s Events

• Sustainability
 □ Economic Development
 □ Community Sustainability
 □ Nature-based Learning

• Other Support
 □ Sponsorship
 □ Major Local Community Facility Development Activity
 □ Major Community Infrastructure
 □ Donations

• Rates Based Financial Assistance
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MAYOR’S DISCRETIONARY FUND
The Mayoral Discretionary Fund is an annual allocation provided in each budget to enable the Mayor to respond to emergent 
requests for financial assistance from community organisations. Grants to community organisations must be in accordance with 
Council’s Grant Program Policy.

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

The Salvation Army Red Shield Appeal 2019  6,000 

FNQ Photographers Club Inc. Canvas prints for exhibition  1,450 

Cairns Lions Club The World Festival of Magic tickets  1,080 

Cairns Art Society Inc. Art prize sponsorship  1,000 

Drum Infinity Mugendai Concert preparation workshop  1,000 

FNQ Hospital Foundation Cardiac Challenge fundraising  1,000 

Special Children's Christmas Party Special Children's Christmas Party  750 

Manoora Community Garden Conversations with Costa  600 

Bravehearts Education campaign and counselling to victims of 
child sexual abuse

 500 

Brothers Edmonton Ladies Bowls Club Travel and accommodation attendance Major 
Ladies Bowls Tournament

 500 

Cairns Surf Life Saving Club Season trophies  500 

Edmonton Pony Club Tournament ribbons  500 

Marlin Coast Bowls Club State Championships  500 

OzHarvest Ltd Tap to Donate Machine  500 

Playgroup Queensland Cairns Annual Signature Event  500 

Ribbon Ladies Game Fishing Club Inc. Junior trophies  500 

The Salvation Army Red Shield Appeal Launch  500 

Yorkeys Knob Residents Association Elements of Corals  500 

Cairns and Regional Maltese Association Public Liability Insurance  450 

Immune Deficiencies Foundation Eight children to attend Circus Quirkes  436 

Rainbow Families Queensland Jumping castle hire for Cairns Tropical Pride 
Festival

 400 

Steps Group Australia Compost bin for vegetable garden  120 

Pyjama Foundation Children's Christmas Party (unspent prior year 
grant refund)

-113 

Cancer Council QLD Transport to treatment initiative (unspent prior 
year grant refund)

-1,249 

TOTAL FOR MAYOR’S DISCRETIONARY FUND 17,924
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EXPENDITURE ON GRANTS 

SPORT AND RECREATION
Young People in Sport
To assist young athletes living in the Cairns Regional Council area by providing financial assistance with the cost 
of representing Queensland at national sporting competitions or representing Australia at international sporting 
competitions (This grant is not available to school based sporting events, such as Penisular). 

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Cairns Basketball Inc. (Cairns Dolphins U14 
Girls Team)

U14 National Basketball Championships  1,000 

Cairns Basketball Inc. (Cairns Marlins U14 
Boys Team)

U14 National Basketball Championships  1,000 

Pace Running Multisport Australian Athletics Championships 2019  1,000 

Barron Valley Gymnastics Australian Gymnastics Championship  900 

Cairns Water Polo (Isabella & Emily 
Muckalt)

Water Polo U16 National Aged Club Championship  600 

Cairns Underwater Association (Jazmin 
Grainger-Dee)

UWH TransTasman National Underwater Hockey  500 

Cairns Underwater Association (Josiah 
Hartley)

UWH Trans Tasman National Underwater Hockey  500 

Cairns Underwater Association (Kai 
Wagner)

UWH Trans Tasman National Underwater Hockey  500 

Cairns Underwater Association (Sarah 
Hartley)

UWH Trans Tasman National Underwater Hockey  500 

Cairns Athletics Inc. (Emma Henley) Australian Athletics Championships 2019  300 

Cairns Basketball Inc (Jaylon Beecroft) U16 National Basketball Championships  300 

Football Queensland Ltd. (Ngailu 
Thompson)

National Youth Championships  300 

Fudoshin Karate Club (Sota Ma & Joshua 
Long)

AKA National Titles  300 

Cairns Basketball Inc. (Ky Staltmann) U16 National Basketball Championships  100 

Cairns Basketball Inc. (Ky Staltmann) U18 National Basketball Championships  100 

Cairns Netball Association Inc. (Emily 
Grace)

State Age Championships Netball  100 

TOTAL FOR YOUNG PEOPLE IN SPORT GRANT 8,000
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SPORT AND RECREATION
Go Clubs Infrastructure Assistance Grant

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Edge Hill Tennis Club Upgrade roofing  10,000 

Edmonton Pony Club Repairs to retaining wall  9,800 

Southern Suburbs Rugby League Club Upgrade seating  7,500 

Cairns BMX Replace retaining wall  6,000 

Earlville Pony Club Upgrade club house patio  3,350 

Freshwater Tennis Club Roof extension  3,350 

TOTAL FOR GO CLUBS INFRASTRUCTURE ASSISTANCE GRANT 40,000

Go Clubs Infrastructure In Kind Assistance (Field Maintenance)
To provide standard turf packages to clubs to ensure turf surfaces at facilities under lease or management agreement 
are managed to appropriate standards.

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

FNQ Football Club Field maintenance 1,634

Marlin Coast Rangers Football Club Field maintenance 1,634

Pirates Touch Football Aeroglen Field maintenance 1,131

Barron Trinity Sports Club Inc. Field maintenance 1,105

TOTAL FOR GO CLUBS INFRASTRUCTURE IN KIND ASSISTANCE (FIELD MAINTENANCE) GRANT 5,504
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EXPENDITURE ON GRANTS 

SPORT AND RECREATION
Go Clubs In Kind Assistance (Essential)
To provide services that can be delivered by Council that support improved asset management initiatives 
(maintenance). 

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Trinity Beach Tennis Club Pressure cleaning, plumbing and painting 7,363

Cairns Cycling Club Boundary fence 7,288

Barrier Coast Archery Footing slip 5,143

Ivanhoes Football Club Inspect and repair field lights 4,995

Cairns Golf Club Earthworks 4,345

Redlynch Razorbacks Junior Rugby League Concrete slab 4,124

Gordonvale Golf Club Inc. Path restoration and clearing of scrub 4,118

Edmonton Storm Senior Rugby League Club Installation of water tap 3,464

Mudcrabs Rugby Union Club Quote to connect plumbing 2,800

Cairns Target Shooting Club Concrete hard standing 2,437

Kangaroos Football Club Water leak 1,615

Holloways Croquet Club Tree and stump removal 1,302

Edge Hill United Football Club Inc. Fencing 662

JCU Strikers Football Club Electrical works 560

Gordonvale Pony Club Mow grounds 498

Earlville Pony Club Waste collection 486

Mulgrave Combined Cricket Association 
Inc. 

Waste collection 486

Girl Guides QLD (Cairns District Girl Guides) Building repairs 277

Redlynch Cyclones Football Club Culvert clean and driveway repair 66

Barron Valley Gymnastics Repair amenities block 49

TOTAL FOR GO CLUBS IN-KIND ASSISTANCE (ESSENTIAL) GRANT 52,078

TOTAL FOR SPORT AND RECREATION 48,000 57,582
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ARTS AND CULTURAL
Regional Arts Development Fund
The Regional Arts Development Fund program focuses on the development of quality arts and arts practice for 
regional communities. 

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Lennie Bourke Young Creatives Strategy  22,000 

Reach Strategic Priority  20,000 

Wendy Mocke Round 1 2018/19  16,609 

Austranesia Pty Ltd Round 1 2018/19  10,000 

Nelli Jenkins Round 1 2018/19  10,000 

Tropical Arts Association Inc. Round 1 2018/19  10,000 

Cairns Art Gallery Round 1 2018/19  9,810 

Kathryn Ash/La Bella Figura Round 1 2018/19  9,150 

The Young Company Round 1 2018/19  8,970 

Kate Adaams Round 1 2018/19  8,525 

Inkmasters Cairns Inc. Round 1 2018/19  7,600 

Anthony Ball Round 1 2018/19  6,881 

The Historical Society Cairns North 
QLD Inc.

Round 1 2018/19  5,320 

Bobby Maguire Round 1 2018/19  4,700 

Natalia Mann Round 2 2018/19  9,000 

Rose Rigley (The Connective 
Object)

Round 2 2018/19  8,800 

Gondwana Choirs Round 2 2018/19  7,475 

Cairns and District Chinese 
Association Inc.

Round 2 2018/19  7,020 

Adrian Thomas (Journey To The 
Heart)

Round 2 2018/19  6,000 

ARC Disability Services Inc. Round 2 2018/19  4,811 

Access Arts Arts and Disability Strategy  9,500 

Luisa Manea EcoArts Grant  4,500 

Send Magic EcoArts Grant  4,500 
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ARTS AND CULTURAL
Regional Arts Development Fund Continued 

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Zedemen Consulting Individual Professional Development Grant 2017/18  1,500 

Elizabeth Smyth Individual Professional Development Grant 2017/18  1,269 

Greta Stanley Individual Professional Development Grant 2017/18  1,000 

Sasikala Victoire Individual Professional Development Grant 2017/18  701 

Charmaine Armstrong Individual Professional Development Grant 2017/18  220 

Jordan N Wymarra Individual Professional Development Grant 2017/18  220 

Virginia Burt Individual Professional Development Grant 2018/19  1,000 

Kairns Art RAalla'i Individual Professional Development Grant 2018/19  1,000 

Melanie Stevens Individual Professional Development Grant 2018/19  1,400 

Andrea Berchtold Individual Professional Development Grant 2018/19  1,500 

Lia Pa'apa'a Individual Professional Development Grant 2018/19  1,500 

Rebecca Ralfe Individual Professional Development Grant 2018/19  703 

Jaydn Bin-Garape Young Creatives Leg Up 2017/18  500 

Tanya Seaton Young Creatives Leg Up 2017/18  500 

Adrian Thomas Small Arts Grant 2017/18  422 

Elle Tomita Small Arts Grant 2017/18  345 

Elizabeth Smyth Small Arts Grant 2017/18  500 

Glen O'Malley Small Arts Grant 2017/18  500 

Mark McLaughlin Small Arts Grant 2017/18  500 

Luisa Manea Small Arts Grant 2018/19  500 

Melanie Sorenson Small Arts Grant 2018/19  500 

Mulgrave Shire Historical Society Small Arts Grant 2018/19  500 

C A Lomax Reimbursement of prior year grant -85 

Junkie Uncle Reimbursement of prior year grant -750 

TOTAL REGIONAL ARTS DEVELOPMENT FUND 227,115



ANNUAL            
REPORT

2 0 1 8 / 1 9

CAIRNS REGIONAL COUNCIL 28

EXPENDITURE ON GRANTS 

ARTS AND CULTURE
Arts and Culture In Kind Assistance
The Arts and Cultural in kind assistance grant aims to make available Council resources and capabilities to support arts and 
cultural projects and activities that make a positive creative contribution to the region.

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Cairns Art Society Inc. Artists of the North 5,000

Inkmasters Cairns Inc. Inkfest 2018 5,000

Peninsula Art Educator’s Association Energy Art Exhibition 5,000

QLD Aids Council Drag Event 5,000

Tim Warnock Tim Warnock Exhibition 5,000

Tropical Arts Association Inc. Tanks Twelfth Night 5,000

Jennider Frei Social Shoot Soiree 4,889

Thai Oz Arts & Culture Inc. Songkran Festival (Thai New Year) 4,396

Cairns Photographic Society Song and Dance Exhibition 4,396

P Marshall Birds of Cattana Exhibition 3,723

RSL of Australia (Qld Branch) Edmonton 
Sub Branch Inc.

The Age of Enjoyment Art Exhibition 1,943

A Fa'Aoso Blue Water Empire Screening 1,382

Nintiringanyi Cultural Training Centre Inc. Bayal Kaymanen  "Dancing Smoke" 500

JUTE Theatre Company To Kill A Cassowary 490

TOTAL REGIONAL ARTS CULTURE IN KIND ASSISTANCE GRANT 51,719
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ARTS AND CULTURE
Arts and Culture Infrastructure Grant
The Arts and Cultural Infrastructure Grant aims to provide financial assistance to arts and cultural organisations that wish to 
pursue building or material enhancements to their premises. 

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Cairns Historical Society Annual Contribution  50,000 

Cairns Little Theatre Inc. Rondo Theatre Lighting, Audio & Electrical upgrade  50,000 

North QLD Amateur Gemcutters & 
Jewellers Assoc Inc

Jewellery Room Extension  50,000 

Inkmasters Cairns Inc. Inkmaster Shed  34,969 

Babinda District Community Association 
Inc.

Babinda Museum Stage 2  8,286 

Cairns and District Family History Society 
Inc.

Solar and Extension  5,479 

Edge Hill Progress Association Upgrade building water supply  1,043 

TOTAL ARTS AND CULTURAL INFRASTRUCTURE GRANT 199,776

TOTAL ARTS AND CULTURAL 426,891 51,719
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COMMUNITY SERVICES
Community Services
This is a once-a-year competitive round depending on available budget. Projects and activities are to commence and be 
completed within 12 months of the approval date.

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Cairns Yacht Club Replace Sail Training fleet  8,000 

COUCH Wellness Centre Caring for Carers Program  4,000 

Tennis QLD Aces for All 2019  4,000 

Braveheart's Foundation Technology update 2019  3,750 

North QLD Branch Inc. Surf Lifesaving 
Association of QLD

Competitive Youth Surf Sport training and mentoring  3,000 

Sacred Tribe QLD Inc. Creative workshops 2019  2,500 

Girl Guides QLD (Marlin Coast District Girl 
Guides)

Branded marquees and signage for Guide events  2,321 

Life Education Centre Foundation QLD Soundfield System for Cairns Mobile Learning Centre  2,300 

Access Community Housing Company Ltd Tenant engagement project  2,079 

Cairns and Region Multicultural 
Association

CARMA Multicultural Festival  2,000  273 

Access Community Housing Company Ltd Cairns Homelessness awareness raising event  1,600 

TOTAL COMMUNITY SERVICES GRANT 35,550 273

Multicultural Month
Available for activities held during Multicultural Month. One funding round per financial year in the period leading up to 
Multicultural Month;

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Far North Queensland African Community 
Association

Multicultural Pot Luck Picnic  4,000  1,895 

Cairns and Region Multicultural 
Association

CARMA Multicultural Festival  4,000 

The Resonance Art Ensemble The Resonance Art Ensemble Launch  3,900  2,423 

Cairns Indonesian Australian Association 
Inc.

Indonesian Cultural Festival  2,500 

Far North Queensland African Community 
Association

Friendship Soccer Games  2,414 

German-Austrian-Swiss Association Worldfest Festival  2,390 

Cairns Latin Dance Club Celebration party  1,680 

Inkmasters Cairns Inc. City Faces of 100 years  562 

TOTAL FOR MULTICULTURAL MONTH GRANT 21,446 4,317
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COMMUNITY SERVICES
NAIDOC Week
Available for activities held during NAIDOC Week. One funding round per financial year in the period leading up to NAIDOC Week.

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Northern Joblink Limited Bush Tucker Dinner Theatre 2019  4,000 

TOTAL NAIDOC WEEK GRANT 4,000

Youth Week
Available for activities held during Youth Week. One funding round per financial year in the period leading up to Youth Week.

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

QPCYWA Edmonton (Edmonton PCYC) Youth 3 on 3 Street Hustle Basketball & Community 
Day

 3,000 

RFDS QLD Services (Headspace Cairns) Tobruk Pool Party  2,912 

TOTAL YOUTH WEEK GRANT 5,912

Disability Week
Available for activities held during Disability Action Week. One funding round per financial year in the period leading up to 
Disability Action Week.

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Ellis Beach Life Saving Club Inc. Sea Eagles program  4,596 

Half Moon Bay Golf Club Inc. Disability Action Week Golf Day  2,000 

Deaf Services Queensland Disability Action Week Golf Day  1,848 

Maxima Joblink Conversation Café  1,000 

Lifestyle Connections Association Inc. 25th Year Anniversary Celebration Lifestyle  750 

St John’s Community Care Ltd Disability Action Week  500 

TOTAL DISABILITY WEEK GRANT 10,694

TOTAL COMMUNITY SERVICES 77,602 4,591
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EVENTS
Local Community Events
These grants support organisations in the delivery of events that are for the benefit of local communities. Local 
community events serve to enrich the lives of residents and celebrate important occasions for the community. These 
events do not usually attract visitors from outside the Cairns region specifically for the event.

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Cairns Agricultural Pastoral and Mining 
Association Inc.

Cairns Show  28,894  9,651 

Babinda Harvest Festival Inc. Babinda Harvest Festival 2018  20,000  3,914 

Cancer Council QLD Relay for Life  14,000  14,240 

Tourism Palm Cove New Year’s Eve - Palm Cove  13,636  5,214 

Northern Pride Rugby League Game day use of Barlow Park  88,997 

Cairns and District Junior Eisteddfod 
Association

In kind support  26,946 

FNQFC Use of Barlow Park  17,623 

Powerlifting Australia Ltd. Australian Powerlifting Championships  9,000 

Umi Arts Ltd. Big Talk One Fire Cultural Festival  5,355 

Australian Pole Sports Federation Australian Pole Sports Championships  5,517 

Rotary Club of Mareeba Inc. Trinity Beach Vibe Festival  5,000  361 

Far North Queensland African Community 
Association

Cairns African Festival  4,000 

Cairns Golf Club Cairns Open Festival  4,000 

Far North Queensland Hospital Foundation Arrow Experience  4,000 

Mulgrave District Chamber of Commerce Animal Education Day  4,000 

The Power of Pallets Waitangi Day  4,000 

Cairns Indonesian Australian Association 
Inc.

Indonesian Cultural Festival  3,542 

Queensland Police Service Support of Cairns Safer Streets Super Session  3,498 

Health Management Big Fish Cairns Young Innovators  3,000 

Ronald McDonald Family Retreat Palm Cove Christmas Lights Ride  2,631 

Cairns Drag and Pride NQ Haus of Drag Extravaganza  2,500 

Cairns Tropical Pride Inc. 3M Pride Christmas Party  2,472 

Bats and Trees Society of Cairns Cairns Bat Festival  2,299 

Playgroup Queensland Cairns Messy Play 2019  2,000  217 

Yorkeys Knob Residents Association Festival of the Knob  2,000 
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EXPENDITURE ON GRANTS 

EVENTS
Local Community Events Continued 

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

PNG Wantoks Association Cultural and Family Day  1,902 

QLD Muscular Dystrophy Association Cairns Ride, Walk, Roll 2019  1,361  233 

Cairns Bonsai Society 25th Annual Exhibition  547 

South Cairns Australian Women’s Football 
Club

Sausage sizzle  400 

TOTAL COMMUNITY EVENTS GRANTS 120,278 196,673

Regional Events
These grants nurture and grow a diverse portfolio of events that will drive economic development, raise the profile of the Tropical 
North Queensland region nationally and internationally, generate positive social and cultural benefits and inspire the residents of 
Tropical North Queensland. Regional events build a sense of local pride, foster confidence and strengthen the local community. 
They have the potential to develop into major events within three years. Visitation tends to be intrastate focused, typically 
attracting 500-1000 participants/overnight visitors and has strong local support.

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Queensland Cricket Association Ltd 2018 Women’s Big Bash  45,000 

North Queensland Sports Foundation Ltd NQ Sports Foundation membership  39,079 

Tennis Australia Cairns Tennis International Pro Tour Event  30,000  5,676 

Cairns and District Chinese Association Inc. Chinese New Year  23,000  1,780 

The Great Pyramid Race & Country Fair 
Association Inc.

The Great Pyramid Race & Country Fair 2018  18,731  2,956 

Tourism Palm Cove Reef Feast  15,000 

Tropical Writers Inc. Cairns Tropical Writers Festival 2018  15,000 

FNQ Amateur Turf Club Cairns Amateurs Carnival  10,000  34,515 

Inkmasters Cairns Inc. Inkfest 2018  7,382  7,618 

Cairns Tropical Pride Inc. Cairns Tropical Pride and Rainbow Crossing  6,000  18,044 

Cairns Indigenous Arts Fair Fashion performance  112,045 

Cairns Jockey Club Cairns Cup Carnival  6,221 

World Wide Sports Agency 2018 Croc Trophy  4,686 

TOTAL REGIONAL EVENT GRANTS 209,192 193,541
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EXPENDITURE ON GRANTS 

EVENTS
Major Tourism Events
To grow a diverse portfolio of major events that will drive economic development of the region, promote Tropical North Queensland 
nationally and internationally, generate positive social, cultural and environmental benefits and inspire the residents of TNQ.

Applicant Description

USM Events Pty Ltd. T/A Ironman Australia Cairns Airport Adventure Festival (Ironman)

Swimming Australia Ltd Pan Pacific Para Swimming Championships

Targa Australia Targa Great Barrier Reef 2018

Swimming Australia Ltd Australian Dolphins Swim Team Training Camps

Atlas Multisports Pty Ltd 7  Cairns Marathon Festival

USM Events Pty Ltd. T/A Ironman Australia 2018 Reef to Reef

USM Events Pty Ltd. T/A Ironman Australia 2019 Reef to Reef

RT Event Enterprises  Red Hot Summer Tour

South Sydney District Rugby League Football Club Ltd NRL Premiership Match

Sports Tourism Events
The Sports Tourism Events grant program provides funding to support eligible local, regional, state or national sporting bodies to 
develop and deliver successful sports tourism events that contribute to the region’s economic prosperity, community wellbeing 
and diverse lifestyle.

A sports tourism event is a sporting event of regional, state or national significance that provides economic, social, media and 
community outcomes for the region. The goal of the grant program is to assist communities in attracting and growing quality 
sporting events. 

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Beach Netball Pty Ltd Beach Netball Festival  15,000  5,414 

Hockey Queensland QLD Men’s Masters State Championship 2018  7,000 

BMX Queensland Inc. 2018 BMX QLD Country Challenge  5,000 

Sports Marketing Australia Pty Ltd 2018 QLD Master’s State Championships  2,200 

Sports Marketing Australia Pty Ltd 2018 BMX QLD Country Championships  2,200 

Sports Marketing Australia Pty Ltd Beach Netball Festival  2,200 

Sports Marketing Australia Pty Ltd Women’s U18 Hockey Championships  2,200 

Sports Marketing Australia Pty Ltd 2018 Cairns Classic Golf Event  2,200 

Professional Golfers Association of Australia 
Ltd

2018 Cairns Classic Golf Event  2,000 

TOTAL SPORTS TOURISM EVENTS GRANTS 40,000 5,414
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EXPENDITURE ON GRANTS 

EVENTS
Events In Kind Assistance
To provide assistance to organisations that wish to host events which make a positive contribution to community and quality of 
life in the Cairns Region.

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

FNQ Volunteers Inc. VEXPO  6,000 

CQ University Performance Space  4,858 

Australian Arakanese Association Cairns Inc. Arakanese New Year  3,155 

Cairns and Region Multicultural Association CARMA Multicultural Festival  3,000 

Clontarf Foundation Employment Forum  3,000 

Diversicare Multicultural Advisory Service Ethnic 
Community Council

Cultures in Harmony 2018  3,000 

FNQ Thai Laos Community Inc. Thai Cultural Festival  3,000 

Japanese Society of Cairns Cairns Bon Dance Festival  3,000 

Pacific Communities Council 10th Annual Pasifika Festival  3,000 

Rotary Club of Cairns Inc. Rotary Duck Race  3,000 

Spiritual Learning Centre Australia Cairns Deepawali Festival 2018  3,000 

St Vincent de Paul Vinnies Community Sleep Out  3,000 

Lifeline Cairns Out of the Shadows  2,544 

Bicycle Queensland Cycle Adventure Tour  2,240 

Abriculture Gimuy Fish Festival  2,122 

Cairns RSL Sub Branch Veterans walk and breakfast  2,044 

North QLD Branch Inc. Surf Lifesaving Association 
of QLD

Come and Try  1,839 

Cairns Legacy Club Inc ANZAC Rugby Match Cairns Legacy  1,806 

Australian Marine Conservation Society Rise for Climate, Rise For Our Reef  1,800 

Cairns on a Fork Cairns on a Fork  1,577 

Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation One Walk Fun Ship Parkland  1,405 

Create Foundation Ltd Transition to Independence  1,319 

Gordonvale Turf Club Gordonvale Races  491 

SANDS Qld Walk to Remember  489 

Rock Impact Incorporated Community engagement Southside  335 
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EXPENDITURE ON GRANTS 

EVENTS
Events In-Kind Assistance Continued 

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Indigenous Marathon Foundation Indigenous Marathon Foundation  280 

Cairns Bhutanese Magar Samaj Bhutanese Community Cricket 
Championships

 252 

Cairns Safer Streets SPAYC Super Session and Harmony Day  249 

RSPCA Million Paws Walk  242 

Cairns Surf Life Saving Club Cairns Surf Lifesaving Championships  100 

TOTAL EVENTS IN KIND ASSISTANCE GRANTS 62,146

Christmas and New Year’s Events
The Christmas and New Year’s Events Grant supports support organisations in the delivery of Christmas or New Year’s themed 
events that are for the benefit to local communities. These community events serve to enrich the lives of residents and celebrate 
important festive occasions for the community. 

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Generations Church Edmonton Community Carols by Candlelight  3,500  1,037 

Babinda District Community Association Inc. Christmas in Babinda  3,500  704 

Mulgrave District Chamber of Commerce Carols in the Park Gordonvale  3,500  151 

Holloways Beach Markets Inc. Carols By Candlelight Holloways Beach  1,000 

Yorkeys Knob Residents Association Carols at Yorkeys Knob  500  126 

TOTAL CHRISTMAS AND NEW YEAR’S EVENT GRANTS 12,000 2,017

TOTAL EVENT GRANTS 1,256,008 613,306
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ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
Economic Development

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Tourism Tropical North Queensland (TTNQ) Resource & Performance Agreement  3,433,333 

Cairns International Education Providers Inc. Resource & Performance Agreement  100,000 

Citizens of the Great Barrier Reef Foundation Resource & Performance Agreement  50,000 

Super Yacht Group Resource & Performance Agreement  30,000 

Babinda Information Centre Resource & Performance Agreement  12,000 

Babinda District Community Association Inc. Resource & Performance Agreement  7,500 

Dive Queensland Inc. Support delivery of seminar  9,900 

Cairns Chamber of Commerce Develop business case  9,800 

Cairns Aviation Skills Centre Ltd Strategic planning  9,000 

Curious Film P/L Screening of Celeste Film  1,000 

TOTAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANT 3,662,533

TOTAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANT 3,662,533
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EXPENDITURE ON GRANTS 

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 
Community Sustainability 
To encourage the community to develop and implement projects which reduce the region’s non-renewable resource consumption, 
reduce waste, conserve/restore biodiversity values and enhance the community understanding of sustainability and resilience.  

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Cairns Area Fish Stocking Group Inc. Resource & Performance Agreement  10,000 

Holloways Beach Environmental Education Centre Resource & Performance Agreement  10,000 

Staw No More Inc. Straw No More Project  5,000 

Manoora Community Garden Launch Pad For Life Seeds of Change 
Educational Program

 3,500 

Gordonvale Community Garden Inc. Gordonvale Community Garden  3,200 

Balaclava After School + Vacation Care Field excursions with AICE Club  3,000 

Stratford & Freshwater Community Association 
Inc. 

Aquaponics System  3,000 

The Creche and Kindergarten Association Ltd. Vegetable gardens and water tank  2,500 

The Junk Weavers Inc. Junk Weavers workshops  2,250 

Babinda District Community Association Inc. Boomerang Bags  1,100 

TOTAL COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY GRANTS 43,550

Nature-Based Learning
This grant foster an appreciation of our world-renowned natural environment in the younger generation through financial support 
for nature-based excursions undertaken by schools in the Cairns local government area.  

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Aloomba State School Cairns Aquarium  1,800 

Freshwater Christian College Reef Magic reef field excursion  1,800 

Gordonvale State High School Reef excursion (Reef Magic)  1,800 

Isabella State School Reef excursion (Reef Magic)  1,800 

Our Lady Help Of Christians School Fitzroy Island excursion  1,800 

Smithfield State High School Fitzroy Island Sustainability Camp  1,800 

Trinity Bay State High School Fitzroy Island and Cairns Aquarium  1,800 

Trinity Beach State Primary School Reef excursion (Reef Magic)  1,800 

McDonnell Creek State School Fitzroy Island excursion  1,665 

Gordonvale State Primary School Cairns Aquarium  1,645 

Bentley Park College Re-discovery excursion  881 

TOTAL NATURE-BASED LEARNING GRANTS 18,592

TOTAL ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY GRANTS 62,142
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EXPENDITURE ON GRANTS 

OTHER SUPPORT
Sponsorship

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

CQUniversity Cairns Taipans NBL Season 2018/19  125,000 

Tourism Tropical North Queensland (TTNQ) Chairman's Awards for Excellence  7,116 

Hockey Queensland 2018 Hockey QLD U18 Women's State 
Championship

 5,000 

Safe Work QLD Safe Work Month Breakfast 2018  4,000 

Gordonvale Chamber of Commerce Gordonvale brochure  3,000 

Planning Institute of Australia Sponsorship  3,000 

Department of Education Sponsorship 2019 TNQ Training Awards  3,000 

QLD Master Builders Association Sponsorship Integrated Package 2019/20  2,850 

Master Builders Association Business Partnership Program 2018/19  2,850 

Cairns Chamber of Commerce BEX Award Sponsorship  2,800 

Cairns Business Women's Club Small Business Owner Gold Sponsorship  2,500 

Skill360 Australia Skill360 Awards 2018  2,500 

Cairns Chamber of Commerce Luncheon  2,000 

Troy Cavallaro 2018 TNQ Innovations Awards - Winner Pipeline 
Innovation Award

 2,000 

Luke and Shannon Cifuentes 2018 TNQ Innovations Awards - Young 
Entrepreneur Award and People’s Choice Award 

 2,000 

All Fish For Dogs 2018 TNQ Innovations Awards - Winner Proven 
Innovation Award

 2,000 

Omega Cycles 2018 TNQ Innovations Awards - Winner Social 
Innovation Award

 1,000 

TB2 BBQ Smokers FNQ 2018 TNQ Innovations Awards - Winner Mayor's 
Inspire Award

 1,000 

CQ University CQU Annual Council of Australasian Tourism and 
Hospitality Education

 1,091 

RAIA Queensland Sponsorship of the AIA Regional Architecture 
Awards

 1,000 

Chelsey Johnston Understory Film Festival  1,000 

Building Designers’ Association of QLD Sponsorship of the Design Hub and Regional 
Awards

 1,000 

James Cook University Sponsorship first year prizes  600 

Cairns Business Women's Club 2019 CBWC Awards Gala Ball ticket  150 

TOTAL SPONSORSHIP 178,457
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OTHER SUPPORT
Major Local Community Facility Development Activity

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Cairns Historical Society Parking permits  11,454 

Queensland Museum Service Level Agreement  18,653 

FNQ Sugar Services Pty Ltd Contribution for Maintenance & Electricity 
at Gordonvale Historic Museum

 19,223 

Cairns Historical Society Annual Contribution  250,000 

TOTAL MAJOR LOCAL COMMUNITY FACILITY DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITY 287,876 11,454

Major Community Infrastructure

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

Bramston Beach Ratepayers and Progress 
Association Inc. 

Resource & Performance Agreement  13,000 

River Improvement Trust Resource & Performance Agreement  200,000 

TOTAL MAJOR COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE 213,000

Donations

Applicant Description Amount $ In Kind $

CRC Mayor’s Charity Golf Day  800 

QCWA Public Rural Crisis Fund Funding drought affected areas of 
Queensland

 3,875 

Cairns Turtle Rehabilitation Centre Resource & Performance Agreement  4,545 

TOTAL DONATIONS 9,220

Rates Based Financial Assistance

Amount $ In Kind $

Cairns Show Association 1 recipient 39,997 

Not-for-Profit Sporting & Recreation Groups 84 recipients 411,465

Not-for-Profit Community Groups 141 recipients 912,753 

TOTAL RATES BASED FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 1,364,216

TOTAL OTHER 2,052,769 11,454

TOTAL 7,603,869 738,653
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CORPORATE PLAN 

Assessment of Progress Towards 5-Year Corporate Plan

On 26 June 2017 Council adopted the Corporate Plan 2017-22. This document provides strategic direction of all activities to be undertaken by 
Council over the next five (5) financial years. Based on this Corporate Plan, Council will ensure that key services and projects will be delivered 
in current and future financial years through the Annual Operational Plans. Specifically, each Operational Plan activity is linked to the Corporate 
Plan’s strategic goals. A summary of the Corporate Plan 2017-22 is shown below.



The Operational Plan for 2018-19 was based on the Corporate Plan 2017-22 which was adopted by Council on 26 
June 2017. The Chief Executive Officer’s assessment of Council’s progress in 2018-19 towards implementing the 
5-year Corporate Plan and annual Operational Plan is outlined below.

WHAT WE WANT TO SEE IN 2022

A strong, diversified and resilient regional economy that supports the growth of new and existing industry, business 
activities and provides long term employment opportunities. 

Key Outcomes/Progress

• Funding for Tourism – Continued implementation and management 
of Council’s Resource and Performance Funding Agreement with 
Tourism Tropical North Queensland (TTNQ) with $3.4 million in 
funding provided to TTNQ for the year ended 30 June 2019.

• Economic Development Strategy – Continued implementation of 
Council’s Economic Development Strategy 2018-2022 with actions 
delivered across the 10 key priority areas contained within the 
strategy.

• Shared Vision Development – Finalisation and adoption of the 
Cairns 2050 Shared Vision. The vision has provided the foundation 
for Council’s advocacy activities with both the State and Federal 
Government.

• Industry Support – Review, renewal and ongoing management of 
Council’s Resource and Performance Funding Agreements with 
Super Yacht Group Great Barrier Reef Inc. and Study Cairns Inc.  
Implementation of a new Resource and Performance Funding 
Agreement with Citizens of the Great Barrier Reef Foundation 
Limited.

• Babinda and Gordonvale Economic Development Plans - 
Delivery of numerous initiatives contained in Council’s Economic 
Development Plans for these specific geographic regions.

• Innovation – Delivery of the 2018 Tropical North Queensland 
Innovation Awards (TNQIA) and associated capacity building 
initiatives within the innovation and entrepreneurship sector.  
Coordinating a range of collaborative projects with James Cook 
University and CQUniversity pursuant to Council’s Memorandums of 
Understanding with both universities.

• Procurement – Delivery of the 2017-18 State of Procurement 
Report which highlighted that Council’s operations delivered a $755 
million positive economic impact for the Cairns community with 
89% of procurement expenditure spent locally.

1. ECONOMY



WHAT WE WANT TO SEE IN 2022

That our iconic natural assets are maintained, enhanced and connected.

Key Outcomes/Progress

• Biosecurity Plan – Finalisation of Council’s biosecurity plan and 
ongoing implementation of the actions and initiatives contained 
therein.

• Waste Reduction and Recycling Strategy 2018-27 – Continued 
implementation of the strategy including planning and 
procurement activities associated with a significant upgrade of 
Council’s Materials Recycling Facility.  Planning for and structuring 
of, Council’s operations to appropriately deal with the introduction 
of the Queensland Government’s Container Refund Scheme and 
Waste Levy.

• Wet Tropics Healthy Waterways Partnership (WTHWP) – 
Partnership activities and initiatives are ongoing and include 
contribution to the WTHWP 2019 report card on the health of the 
region’s waterways.

• Litter and Illegal Dumping – Continued implementation of Council’s 
Litter and Illegal Dumping Action Plan. This includes various 
education and on-ground actions, as well as source reduction 
initiatives to reduce community and Council consumption of single-
use plastics. 

• Water Security – Continued implementation of Council’s Water 
Security Strategy including preliminary planning works on the 
development of an emergency water plan and engagement with 
Building Queensland and other stakeholders in the development 
of the business case for Nullinga Dam. Levels of service review has 
been completed and further investigations are currently underway 
to identify the preferred levels of service for Cairns.

• Energy Management Plan – Continued implementation of the 
initiatives in the plan including investigation into ground mounted 
solar facilities at Council’s wastewater treatment plants.

• CO2 Emissions – Implementation of various initiatives to ensure Council’s commitment to a 50% reduction in 
CO2 emissions by 2020 is achieved. Council’s State of the Environment report for 2017-18 confirms Council is on 
track to achieve this objective.

• Smart Water Meters Project – Implementation of Phase 1 of the smart water meters’ project has commenced 
with meter installations in Palm Cove and establishment and optimisation of smart water meter data 
communication capability.

2. NATURAL ASSETS



Key Outcomes/Progress

• CCTV Strategy – Review of operations is complete with final 
report/strategy scheduled to be presented to Council for 
consideration in Q1 2019-20.

• Planning Scheme – Amendments to the Local Government 
Infrastructure Plan were adopted by Council in April 2019.  
Review of the Planning Scheme is ongoing.

• Cycling and Walking Strategy – Preparation of draft strategy 
(updated) nearing completion and expected to be presented 
to Council for endorsement in Q1 2019-20.

• Natural Disaster Resilience – Community ‘Get Ready’ 
resilience activities continue including delivery of evacuation 
planning workshop for aged care and promotion of new All-
Hazards publication.

• City Centre Master Plan – City Centre Master Plan was 
finalised following significant public consultation and 
endorsed by Council in April 2019.

• Council Pound Facility – Detailed design for new pound 
facility has been completed.

• Road and Transport Network Advocacy – Ongoing 
participation in the Cairns Region’s Road Safety, Traffic and 
Transport Advisory Committee. Participation in project 
meetings associated with the delivery of the Smithfield 
Bypass and Bruce Highway Southern Access Corridor road 
projects. Specific advocacy activities to the State and/or 
Federal Governments relating to future upgrades required 
on the Bruce Highway, Captain Cook Highway, Western 
Arterial Road and Kuranda Range Road.

• Coastal Hazards Adaptation Strategy – Strategy 
development continued during 2018-19 including public 
consultation at Council markets and events with relevant 
information also published on Council’s website.

WHAT WE WANT TO SEE IN 2022

A safe and secure city that is easy to live in and connected to the world. 

3. LIVEABILITY



CORPORATE PLAN 

Key Outcomes/Progress

• Cairns Performing Arts Centre – Construction of the new Cairns 
Performing Arts Centre was completed with the venue formally 
opened on 15 December 2018.  A programme of productions 
and activation at the facility has been developed and is being 
implemented.

• ‘Old’ Cairns Courthouse – Heritage refurbishment and 
restoration works on the ‘old’ Cairns Courthouse building 
located on Abbott Street has commenced and is due for 
completion in 2020.

• Strategy for Culture and the Arts – Strategy implementation is 
ongoing with a State of the Arts Advisory Panel established to 
monitor progress and outcomes achieved.

• Cairns Gallery Precinct – Completion of the business case for 
the Cairns Gallery Precinct project utilising funding provided 
by the Queensland Government.  Council resolved to proceed 
with the project subject to securing funding for two thirds of 
the project’s capital cost from the Queensland and or Federal 
Government.  Advocacy activities to seek commitments for this 
external funding are ongoing.

• Libraries – The Cairns Libraries Strategic Plan 2019-23 was 
endorsed by Council on 24 October 2018 and the strategy is 
now being implemented.

• Community Service Grants – Council’s Community Grants 
policy was readopted by Council in October 2018 and has been 
delivered. 

• Events Strategy – Continued implementation of Council’s Events 
Strategy with key events supported during 2018-19 including: 
the 2019 Cairns Airport Adventure Festival (June 2019); South 
Sydney Rabbitohs and the North Queensland Cowboys NRL 
match (July 2018); Targa Great Barrier Reef (August 2018); 2018 
Para Pan Pacific Swimming Championships (August 2018); Reef 
to Reef Mountain Biking Event (August 2018). 

WHAT WE WANT TO SEE IN 2022

A vibrant, inclusive and healthy community with access to services and facilities which reflect its unique character, 
roles and needs.

4. COMMUNITY & CULTURE



Key Outcomes/Progress

• Fiscal Responsibility and Stability – Delivered an operating 
surplus for 2018-19 in line with budget expectations. A 
balanced operating budget for 2019-2020 adopted on 3 July 
2019 incorporating a 1.5% rate rise in line with CPI.

• Capital Works Program – Delivery of $152 million in capital 
works across a variety of Council operations.

• Enterprise Bargaining Agreement (EBA) – A new EBA was put 
to an employee vote on 6 June 2019 with 82% of employees 
voting ‘yes’ to the new agreement.  The new EBA has been 
submitted to the Queensland Industrial Relations Commission 
for certification.

• My Cairns App – The My Cairns App, which provides 
information/functionality relating to, events, things to do, 
Council news and reporting a problem, was launched on 1 
November 2018 and had been downloaded over 18,000 times 
as at the end of June 2019.

• Safety – External audit on Council’s safety management system 
was completed with Council achieving above the required 
benchmark level.

• Customer Satisfaction – Customer satisfaction remains a high 
priority for Council. Council has performed well in this regard, 
achieving an external customer satisfaction index of 80%.

• Core Platform – Council has commenced implementation of a 
new enterprise software system that will result in efficiency and 
customer service improvements across the organisation.

WHAT WE WANT TO SEE IN 2022

An efficient organisation providing best practices service delivery through leadership, effective management of 
people, assets and finances.

5. SERVING THE COMMUNITY
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CAIRNS WATER & WASTE

OVERVIEW
Cairns Water and Cairns Resource Recovery (hereafter referred to 
as Water and Waste) are commercialised business units of Cairns 
Regional Council with a charter for: 

• Supplying safe, reliable drinking water to consumers
• Collection and treatment of domestic wastewater, 

commercial and industrial trade waste
• Collection, recycling and disposal of municipal solid waste
• Planning for and delivering water, wastewater and waste 

infrastructure 
• Maintenance of the community’s water, wastewater and 

waste infrastructure
• Environmental management of water, wastewater and waste 

infrastructure and facilities

For reporting purposes under National Competition Policy, Water 
and Waste is classed as providing two significant business activities, 
these being water and wastewater (collectively) and resource 
recovery (waste) services.  Both Cairns Water and Cairns Resource 
Recovery are considered significant business activities under the 
Local Government Act 2009.  Accordingly, these businesses have 
been commercialised under this legislation and report to Council 
as such.  

Water and Waste provides a high level of customer service to the 
Cairns community by building relationships and capability, having 
the right people and the right culture and using efficient processes 
to deliver effective results. 

For a breakdown of financial operations and dividend return to 
Council please see the attached Annual Statement of Operations 
and the corresponding Financial Statements.

WATER SUPPLY
Water and Waste operates 10 water supply schemes. The main 
water sources are the Copperlode Falls Dam and Behana Creek 
which supply the area from Gordonvale to Palm Cove. The small 
southern communities draw water from a number of intakes on 
local streams.

Principal assets include:

Major Water Sources    Copperlode Falls Dam (Lake Morris)
   Behana Creek (Intake)

Major Treatment Plant  Freshwater Creek Water
   Treatment Plant at Tunnel Hill

Minor Intakes   Twelve (12) minor intakes

Kilometres of Mains  ~2,212.23 kilometres
* Data sourced from 2019 Asset Management Plan Water Assets 
#4954376v6

Major Capital Works projects undertaken within the water supply 
system in 2018/19 were:

• Finalise construction of new Water Laboratory $7.03M
• Refurbish White Gap No. 7 Water Reservoir $1.79M
• Refurbish White Gap No. 2 Water Reservoir $1.6M
• Cairns CBD Water Main Replacement Program 2018/19 

$1.1M

WASTEWATER OBLIGATIONS
Water and Waste manages six wastewater schemes.  The distinct 
catchment areas within Cairns are serviced by six wastewater 
treatment plants (WWTPs) as follows: Marlin Coast, Northern, 
Southern, Edmonton, Gordonvale and Babinda. The WWTPs 
are a combination of activated sludge and biological treatment 
processes, with the two larger plants also having membrane 
filtration processes. The smaller plants treat effluent to a  secondary 
standard, while the larger plants treat to tertiary standards. The 
management of the systems is covered by an Environmental 
Authority issued by the Department of Environment and Science.  

Principal assets include:

Major Treatment Plants   6

Sewage Pumping Stations  180

Kilometres of Mains   ~1,284.19 kilometres
* Data sourced from 2019 Asset Management Plan Wastewater Assets 
#4954281v7

Major Capital Work projects undertaken within the wastewater 
system in 2018/19 were:

• Earlville Sewerage Upgrade Stage 1 $5.65M  
• In situ Sewer Main and Manhole Refurbishment Program 

2018/19 $2.9M 
• Gordonvale WWTP Control System Upgrade $0.74M 
• Babinda WWTP primary sedimentation tank and associated 

works $0.63M
• Gordonvale WWTP replace Inlet Screens $0.70M
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CAIRNS WATER & WASTE

CAIRNS RESOURCE RECOVERY
Water and Waste manages a range of solid waste operations, 
activities and services across the region. These include kerbside 
waste and recycling collection contracts, a regional waste 
management contract for the treatment and disposal of wastes 
through an Advanced Resource Recovery Facility, a material 
recovery facility, transfer stations, a buy back shop for the resale of 
recovered materials and the environmental monitoring of Council’s 
closed landfills. The business focus is on waste minimisation and 
resource recovery primarily driven through the Waste Reduction & 
Recycling Strategy 2018/27.

Principal assets include:

Materials Recovery Facility  Portsmith
Waste Transfer Stations   Babinda

    Gordonvale
    Portsmith
    Smithfield
    Bramston Beach

Buy Back Shop    Portsmith
Closed Landfills   Portsmith

    Babinda
    Gordonvale
    White Rock
    Machans Beach
    Yorkeys Knob

Waste Treatment & Disposal Portsmith
(Contractual arrangement with a commercial entity SUEZ Environment 
to accept, treat and dispose of Council waste in an Advanced Resource 
Recovery Facility)

Major Capital Work projects undertaken within the wastewater 
system in 2018/19 were:

• Commence Container Refund Scheme $0.85M

Annual Statement of Operations

Water and Waste’s 2018/19 Annual Performance Plan (the Plan) 
was the agreement with Cairns Regional Council to deliver water, 
wastewater and solid waste services. The Plan described Water and 
Waste’s scope of activities, responsibilities, service to customers, 
the environment, asset management and its financial policies. 

In all undertakings Water and Waste strives to achieve service 
provision to the Cairns community in a manner which maximises 
both Cairns Regional Council and community ideals. This is 
achieved through economic, social and environmental objectives 
being assessed in all stages of Water and Waste operations from 
long term planning through to operational delivery.

The Water Supply (Safety and Reliability) Act 2008 s 115, requires 
water service providers to prepare and publish Customer Service 
Standards (CSS’s).  These ensure customers who do not have a 
contract with the service provider for the supply of registered 
services (a service contract) are protected by standards relating to 
the supply.

Amendments to Annual Performance Plan

There were no structural amendments to the Plan.

Key Deliverables

The Plan meets the requirements for the two commercial business 
units of Council being:

• Cairns Water (water and wastewater)
• Cairns Resource Recovery (waste services)

Operationally, the units are managed as a single entity, Water and 
Waste. Water and Waste is responsible for the provision of water 
and wastewater services to consumers throughout the Cairns 
Region and the provision of municipal solid waste services to the 
community, including the following:

• Impounding, harvesting and treatment of raw water
• Reticulated treated water services
• Reticulated wastewater collection services including 

wastewater treatment and by-product disposal
• Treated effluent and biosolids for re-use purposes 
• Planning, design, documentation and construction of water, 

wastewater and waste services infrastructure
• Collection, treatment and disposal and/or recycling of 

municipal solid wastes
• Trade waste services
• Review of plumbing applications, plumbing approvals
• Community education programs

Water and Waste also provides the following services:

• Water demand management services, including meter testing
• Hydraulic information to allow design of water network 

infrastructure
• As-constructed plans for water and wastewater
• Installation of new water supply and wastewater services
• Miscellaneous maintenance services for water and wastewater
• NATA Accredited Services at Council’s Water Laboratory
• Buy Back Shop
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Type 1 Activities

Water $
Service Locations 20,185
Fire Hydrants Maintenance 677,228
Access Charges Foregone 409,165
Water Charges Foregone 1,229,080
Total 2,335,658

Wastewater
Service Locations 60,996
Access Charges Foregone 1,224,922
Total 1,285,918

Solid Waste Management
Free Dumping General Waste 294,213
Free Disposal Vouchers -
Free Dumping Vegetation 270,780
Free Mulch 99,037
Free Transportation Costs between Transfer Stations 58,801
Rates Based Financial Assistance 56,030
Schools Recycling 29,060
In Kind Waste and Recycling Collections 9,520
Total 817,442

COMMUNITY SERVICE OBLIGATION
A Community Service Obligation arises when a government specifically requires a public enterprise to carry out activities relating 
to outputs or inputs which it would not elect to do on a commercial basis, and which the government does not require another 
business in the public or private sectors to generally undertake. 
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CAIRNS WATER & WASTE

WATER AND WASTEWATER SERVICES
Service Indicators

Water and Waste reported on the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to Council on a quarterly basis during 2018/19. Graphs 
showing the performance for each indicator by month are displayed below (data sourced from W&W Operations Working Data).

Performance Indicator Target

Water Supply
1 Total water main breaks (QG4.5/AS8) 18 per 100km Main
2 Incidence of unplanned interruptions - Water (QG4.7/CS17) 50 per 1,000 properties
3 Average response time for water incidents (bursts & leaks) (QG4.8/CS66) 120 minutes
4 Water quality complaints (QGA4.10/CS9) 3 per 1,000 properties

Sewerage System
1 Total sewerage main breaks and chokes (QG4.6/AS39) 16 per 100 km

2 Average response time for sewerage incidents (including main breaks and chokes) 
(QG4.9/AS65)

120 minutes

Customer Complaints
1 Total water and sewerage complaints (QG4.11/CS13) 10 per 1,000 properties

WATER SUPPLY
The total number of water main breaks was 
63 less compared to 2017/18 and 207 more 
compared to 2016/17. The University reservoir 
was offline which affected results from 
December 2017 to July 2018 due to increased 
pressure on the network. All months in 
2018/19 were unsatisfactory due to exceeding 
the maximum limit, except October which had 
a marginal result due to reaching the maximum 
limit but not exceeding it. Multiple causes of 
breaks were identified including pipe material, 
corrosion and tree roots damage. This data 
feeds into the Infrastructure Asset Renewal 
Programme.
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CAIRNS WATER & WASTE

WATER SUPPLY
The incidence of unplanned interruptions did 
not reach nor exceed the maximum limit in any 
year shown on the graph. 

Incidence of Unplanned Interruptions

The overall average response time for 

water incidents decreased by 90 minutes 
for the yearly average between 2017/18 
and 2018/19. The average response time 
exceeded the maximum limit in every month 
except for December. This data includes all 
incidents including non-urgent. Changes will 
be made to the KPI for the 2019/20 reporting 
period. Urgent and Non Urgent will be tracked 
separately.
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WATER SUPPLY
The average response time was satisfactory for 
all months except September which exceeded 
the maximum limit. In September there was 
a delay with the request being sent through 
the online system which caused the KPI to be 
unsatisfactory. 

Average Response Time for Water Incidents
(Urgent Breaks Only)

The total number of water quality complaints 
in 2018/19 was 35 less compared to 2017/18 
and 115 less compared to 2016/17. October 
was the only month to exceed the maximum 
limit; during this time, an unplanned incident 
required a large volume of water to be 
extracted which increased the turbidity in the 
network, causing water quality to be impacted. 

Drinking Water Quality Complaints
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SEWERAGE SYSTEM
The total number of sewerage main breaks 
and chokes in 2018/19 was 15 more compared 
to 2017/18 and 6 less compared to 2016/17. 
There were no third party breaks recorded. July, 
January and February exceeded the maximum 
limits of the KPI, which was correlated with the 
sewer network operating at full capacity.

Number of Sewer Breaks & Chokes

The average response time to sewerage 
incidents was satisfactory with the KPI every 
month in 2018/19. The average response time 
for the 2018/19 year decreased by 6.5 minutes 
from 2017/18 and increased 4.48 minutes 
since 2016/17.
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CAIRNS WATER & WASTE

SEWERAGE SYSTEM
The total water and sewerage complaints for 
2018/19 were below the maximum monthly 
limit of 28 complaints, as was also the case for 
2017/18 and 2016/17.

Total Water and Sewerage Complaints
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WASTE SERVICES
Service Indicators

Water and Waste reported on the following Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to Council on a quarterly basis during 18/19. Graphs 
showing the performance for each indicator by month are displayed below (data sourced from W&W Waste Working data).

Performance Indicator Target

Effective Collection of Residential Waste
1 New Bin Delivery 100% within 48 hours

2 Missed Services - Kerbside Waste Less than or equal to 1 
per 1,000 services

3 Response Time to Missed Services - Kerbside Waste 100% within 24 hours

4 Missed Services - Kerbside Recycling Less than or equal to 1 
per 1,000 services

5 Response Time to Missed Services - Kerbside Recycling 100% within 24 hours

6 Response Time to Repair/Replacement Requests - Kerbside Waste and Recycling 100% within 24 hours

The time taken to deliver new waste and recycling bins was satisfactory.
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WASTE SERVICES
The missed services for kerbside waste was 
satisfactory. This is a dramatic improvement 
from 2017/18 where the KPI was not met for 
various months due to challenges arising from 
a change of contractor. 

Missed Services - Kerbside Waste

The missed services for kerbside recycling was 
satisfactory. This is a dramatic improvement 
from 2017/18 where the KPI was not met for 
various months due to challenges arising from 
a change of contractor. 
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WASTE SERVICES
The response time to missed services for 
kerbside waste was satisfactory. Response Time to Missed Services - Kerbside Waste
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The response time to missed services for 
kerbside recycling was satisfactory with the 
target “100% within 24 hours” for all months 
except for October. One missed service out of 
twelve in October was not delivered within 24 
hours causing the KPI to be unsatisfactory. 
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WASTE SERVICES
The response time to repair/replacement 
requests for kerbside waste and recycling was 
satisfactory for nine months and marginal for 
three months with the target “100% within 
48 hours.” A marginal result indicates that 
the trigger value of 97% was reached but not 
exceeded. The marginal result in November 
prompted a request to IT to adjust the job 
close date to reflect when work was completed 
instead of when Customer Requests were 
manually closed. The marginal result in 
March was reported to the contractor who 
took proactive measures to improve results. 
Overall, performance improved from 2017/18 
when there were challenges with a change in 
contractor.

Response Time to Repair / Replacement Requests - Kerbside 
Waste & Recycling
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CAPITAL WORKS
Capital works delivered by Water and Waste for Water, Wastewater and Waste Management totalled $49.32M. This 
expenditure was 96% of the budgeted amount of $51.50M.

Capital Expenditure by Program 2018/19

A great deal of effort went into preplanning, and resource allocation of projects was undertaken prior to the start of 
the year. This translated into an exceptional result where the department was able to, for the first time, practically 
deliver its allocated capital budget across 126 approved water, wastewater and waste projects.
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For the year ended 30 June 2019

2018/19
Actual
$000

2018/19
Budget

$000
Operating Revenue
Net Rates and Utility Charges 121,306 120,218
Fees and Charges 5,097 5,416
Interest 1,214 1,078
Miscellaneous Revenue 958 864
Total Operating Revenue 128,576 127,575

Operating Expenditure
Employee Benefits 23,957 23,460
Materials and Services 23,859 24,810
Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses 35,113 35,610
Finance Costs 47 -
Total Expenses 82,977 83,880

OPERATING CAPABILITIES BEFORE CAPITAL ITEMS & INCOME TAX 45,599 43,695

Capital Items
Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment ( 4,545 ) ( 3,019 )
Contributed Assets 7,194 9,421
Other Capital Contributions 917 2,019
Subsidies and Grants 1,637 2,327
Total Capital Items 5,203 10,747

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN OPERATING CAPABILITY BEFORE TAX 50,802 54,443

Income Tax Benefit/(Expense) ( 17,638 ) ( 16,333 )
Dividend Income/(Expense) ( 25,103 ) ( 33,764 )

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN OPERATING CAPABILITY AFTER INCOME TAX 8,060 4,346

CAIRNS WATER SERVICES OPERATING STATEMENT
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CAIRNS WASTE SERVICES OPERATING STATEMENT

2018/19
Actual
$000

2018/19
Budget

$000
Operating Revenue
Net Rates and Utility Charges 27,044 27,047
Fees and Charges 3,926 2,655
Interest 297 270
Miscellaneous Revenue 2,519 2,510
Total Operating Revenue 33,785 32,482

Operating Expenditure
Employee Benefits 4,651 4,032
Materials and Services 21,374 21,723
Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses 684 744
Finance Costs - -
Total Expenses 26,709 26,498

OPERATING CAPABILITIES BEFORE CAPITAL ITEMS & INCOME TAX 7,076 5,983

Capital Items
Gain / (Loss) on disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment ( 275 ) ( 117)
Contributed Assets - -
Other Capital Contributions - -
Subsidies and Grants - -
Total Capital Items ( 275) ( 117)

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN OPERATING CAPABILITY BEFORE TAX 6,801 5,866

Income Tax Benefit/(Expense) (  2,436 ) ( 1,760 )
Dividend Income/(Expense) ( 4,365 ) ( 4,106)

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN OPERATING CAPABILITY AFTER INCOME TAX - -
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

SPECIAL RATES AND CHARGES
During the 2018/19 Financial Year Cairns Regional Council 
had the following Special Rates & Charges:

BLUEWATER CANAL – SPECIAL CHARGE is levied on 
rateable land within the defined benefited areas for 
the purpose of funding works for the dredging and 
maintenance of the Bluewater Canal, Half Moon Creek 
and Offshore Channel.

RIVERSIDE PARADE – SPECIAL CHARGE is levied on 
rateable land within the defined benefited areas for 
the purpose of funding works for the dredging and 
maintenance of the channel within 29 metres of the 
water frontage of the land located on Riverside Parade. 

HOLLOWAYS BEACH ROCK WALL STAGE 1 – SPECIAL 
CHARGE is levied on rateable land within the defined 
benefited areas for the purpose of funding the constructed 
rock wall which provides a special benefit by way of an 
improved level of protection from the sea for the length 
of wall constructed on the seaward side of that individual 
parcel.

HOLLOWAYS BEACH ROCK WALL STAGE 2A – SPECIAL 
CHARGE is levied on rateable land within the defined 
benefited areas for the purpose of funding the constructed 
rock wall and each parcel will receive a special benefit by 
way of an improved level of protection from the sea for 
the length of wall constructed on the seaward side of that 
individual parcel.

HOLLOWAYS BEACH ROCK WALL STAGE 2B – SPECIAL 
CHARGE is levied on rateable land within the defined 
benefited areas for the purpose of funding the constructed 
rock wall and each parcel will receive a special benefit by 
way of an improved level of protection from the sea for 
the length of wall constructed on the seaward side of that 
individual parcel.

INVITATIONS TO CHANGE TENDERS
There were 3 instances during the 2018/19 financial year where 
tenderers who had submitted a tender to Council were invited 
to change their tenders.

REGISTERS
The following registers are held by Cairns Regional 
Council:

• Asbestos Register
• Asset Register
• Conflict of Interest/Material Personal Interest 

Declaration Register
• Corporate Risk Register
• Council’s Local Laws Register
• Embargo Register
• Environmentally Relevant Activity Register
• Fleet Disposal Register
• Local Heritage Register
• Legal Matter Register
• Matman Equipment Register
• Mayor’s Discretionary Fund Register
• Resident Evacuation and Recovery Register
• Benefits (including Gifts) Register
• Code of Conduct Matters Register
• Cost Recovery Fees Register
• Council Meeting Minutes Register
• Delegations (including financial) Register
• Council’s approved procurement arrangements, 

Approved Contractor lists, Register of Pre-Qualified 
Suppliers, and Preferred Supplier Arrangements 
Registers

• Election Gifts and Benefits Register
• Interests Chief Executive Officer Register
• Interests Councillors Register
• Interests Senior Contract Employees Register
• Tree Removal and Replacement Projects Register
• Road Register
• Vegetation Protection Local Law Register
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CONCESSIONS FOR RATES AND CHARGES

1. COUNCIL PENSIONER REMISSION
a. A rebate of 40 per cent of the General Rate up to a 

maximum of $1,350 per annum was granted to all 
pensioners whose applications met the eligibility 
criteria set down in Council’s Pensioner Policy 
and were also submitted within the required time 
frames.

b. The upper limit of total remission did not exceed 
5 per cent of Council’s total net general rates, 
therefore the 40 per cent remission was not 
required to be reduced on a pro rata basis in line 
with policy.

2. RETIREMENT VILLAGE REMISSION
a. A remission was extended to retirement villages (as 

classified under Land Use Code 21), where a legal 
entity separate to the residents was the owner and 
the pensioners were responsible for paying the 
rates, to the extent that residents of the village 
were pensioners.

b. A remission was then applied based on the 
number of dwellings occupied by pensioners as a 
percentage of the total number of dwellings in the 
village.

3. RATES BASED FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
This policy allows Council to consider applications for 
remission of general rates, water access charges and 
sewerage charges from not-for-profit recreation, sporting 
and community groups. Whose applications meet the 
eligibility criteria set down in Council’s Rates Based 
Financial Assistance Policy and were also submitted 
within the required timeframes. 

This policy only applies to an organisation making an 
application for rating concession, which must be a not-
for-profit organisation meeting the adopted criteria and 
whose constitution clearly states prohibitions on any 
member of the organisation making a private profit or 
gain, either from ongoing operations of the organisation 
or as a result of distribution of assets if the organisation 
was to be wound up. 

4. INDEPENDENT RATES RELIEF TRIBUNAL
This policy has been adopted to provide a safety net for
those ratepayers suffering genuine financial hardship. 
The Tribunal is made up of a mixture of independent
voluntary appointees selected by Council and two 
Councillors.

The main role of the Tribunal is to recommend, in certain 
circumstances, the most appropriate form of assistance 
to those ratepayers experiencing serious hardship and, as 
a result, are unable to pay their rates and charges. The 
policy only applies to the principal place of residence of 
the ratepayer and no commercial benefit can be derived 
from the property. Additionally, not for profit recreation, 
sporting and community groups that are already receiving 
rates based financial assistance, or would be eligible if 
they did not have rates outstanding, may also apply.

5. HEALTH
Financial assistance is available to offset water usage 
costs for users of Home Dialysis Equipment. Written 
applications must be submitted to Cairns Regional Council 
for approval.

6. CONCEALED LEAKS
Financial assistance is available to offset larger than 
normal water accounts due to existence of a concealed
leak for residential and not-for-profit community 
organisations. Written applications must be submitted to 
Cairns Regional Council for approval.
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INTERNAL AUDIT
The annual report for a financial year must contain a 
report on the internal audit for the financial year. Council’s 
Internal Audit function provides independent, objective 
assurance activities in accordance with an approved 
strategic, risk-based internal audit plan. The role, scope 
and purpose of the Internal Audit function is understood 
and supported by the organisation.

The Internal Audit function works collaboratively with 
management to implement recommended improvements 
to systems, processes, work practices, compliance and 
business effectiveness. The Internal Audit activities are 
performed by an appropriately qualified internal audit 
consultant on a wholly outsourced basis. For the year 
ended 30 June 2018, Council’s outsourced internal 
audit consultant was Pacifica Chartered Accountants. 
The independence and objectivity of the consultant is 
continuously monitored by the General Manager Human 
Resources and Organisational Change as the Internal 
Audit Sponsor.

The Internal Audit Plan is reviewed annually by 
management and the Audit Committee to ensure it 
remains relevant to the organisation’s needs and the 
key underpinning document is the Corporate Risk 
Register. Council’s 2018/19 Internal Audit Plan covered 
all Departments and included reviews of Fraud Risk 
and Ethical Conduct, Water Management Practices, 
Project Management Practices, CRM and Complaints 
Management Review, Accounts Receivable and Debtor 
Management Practices, and Building and Facilities. 

SUMMARY OF INVESTIGATION NOTICES
The annual report for a financial year must contain a 
summary of investigation notices given in the financial 
year under s.49 for competitive neutrality complaints 
and any responses made by the Local Government in 
response to the Queensland Productivity Commission’s 
recommendations on any competitive neutrality 
complaints.

During the 2017/18 financial year Council was not in 
receipt of any Queensland Productivity Commission 
notices of investigation under section 49. During the 
same period Council was not in receipt of any Queensland 
Productivity Commission recommendations on any 
competitive neutrality complaints under section 52(3).

BENEFICIAL ENTERPRISES
Cairns Regional Council does not have any beneficial
enterprises.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION
The following table shows the range of total remuneration 
packages for the 12 month period from 1 July 2018 
to 30 June 2019 provided to Council’s senior contract 
employees. 

The total remuneration packages payable (excluding 
superannuation) in 2018/19 to senior management was 
$2,025,748.

Package Range
Number of senior contract 
employees within package 

range
$200,000 to $299,999 6
$300,000 to $399,999 1
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Cairns Regional Council
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

2019 2018

Note $ $

Income
Recurrent revenue

Rates, levies and charges 3(a) 259,162,924      252,260,434     
Fees and charges 24,294,653        20,804,652       
Interest revenue 3,189,165          2,800,440         
Other recurrent revenue 3(b) 12,691,668        9,579,852         
Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 7,884,483          9,674,216         

307,222,893      295,119,594     
Capital revenue

Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 4 59,772,978        70,913,222       
Total revenue 366,995,871      366,032,816     

Total income 2(b) 366,995,871      366,032,816     

Expenses
Recurrent expenses

Employee benefits 5 (104,980,388)    (95,365,800)      
Materials and services 6 (115,589,561)    (103,944,646)    
Finance costs (3,629,504)        (2,923,962)        
Depreciation and amortisation (89,654,847)      (91,090,841)      

(313,854,300)    (293,325,249)    

Capital expenses
Capital expenses 7 (26,890,108)      (37,623,510)      

(26,890,108)      (37,623,510)      

Total expenses 2(b) (340,744,408)    (330,948,759)    

Net result 26,251,463        35,084,057       

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Increase in asset revaluation surplus (8,259,498)        58,449,189       
Total other comprehensive income for the year (8,259,498)        58,449,189       

Total comprehensive income for the year 17,991,965        93,533,246       

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Significant Accounting Policies.
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2019 2018

Note $ $

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8 14,712,154        18,402,274        
Trade and other receivables 9(a) 40,425,896        37,648,626        
Inventories 2,153,699          2,237,401          

Total current assets 57,291,749        58,288,301        

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10(b) 3,947,266,915   3,905,776,226   
Intangible assets 3,318,441          3,885,642          

Total non-current assets 3,950,585,356   3,909,661,868   

Total assets 4,007,877,105   3,967,950,169   

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 11 55,145,927        45,716,760        
Provisions 12 5,004,617          4,079,219          
Borrowings 13 14,340,524        11,880,019        
Other 1,098,407          164,616 

Total current liabilities 75,589,475        61,840,614        

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 12 21,318,485        21,153,077        
Borrowings 13 106,858,739      98,838,037        

Total non-current liabilities 128,177,224      119,991,114      

Total liabilities 203,766,699      181,831,728      

Net community assets 3,804,110,406   3,786,118,441   

Community equity
Asset revaluation surplus 1,172,724,656   1,180,984,154   
Retained surplus 2,631,385,750   2,605,134,287   

Total community equity 3,804,110,406   3,786,118,441   

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Significant Accounting Policies.
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2019 2018
Note $ $

Receipts
General rates and utility charges 257,433,701      251,152,227    
Rental and levies, fees and charges 23,953,547        20,271,188      
Operating grants, subsidies and contributions 7,884,483          9,537,120        
Interest received 3,189,165          2,800,440        
Other revenue 11,863,443        9,638,666        

Payments
Payments to suppliers (106,665,539)    (114,482,566)   
Payments to employees (102,218,600)    (94,601,215)     
Interest expense (2,392,200)        (1,694,104)       

Net cash inflow from operating activities 19 93,048,000        82,621,756      

Cash flows from investing activities
Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations for capital acquisitions:

Capital contributions 10,409,379        12,587,844      
Government subsidies and grants 30,399,195        41,331,266      

Payments for property, plant and equipment (150,095,551)    (155,640,352)   
Payments for intangible assets (704,980) (261,949) 
Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets 2,772,630          1,634,870        

Net cash outflow from investing activities (107,219,327)    (100,348,321)   

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 20 22,250,000        32,000,000      
Repayment of borrowings 20 (11,768,793)      (8,791,631)       

Net cash outflow from financing activities 10,481,207        23,208,369      

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents held (3,690,120)        5,481,804        

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 18,402,274        12,920,470      

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 8 14,712,154        18,402,274      

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Significant Accounting Policies.
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Cash flows from operating activities



Asset 
revaluation 

surplus

Retained 
surplus/ (deficit) Total

Note $ $ $

1,180,984,154  2,605,134,287   3,786,118,441 

- 26,251,463        26,251,463 

(8,259,498)        - (8,259,498)         
1,172,724,656  2,631,385,750   3,804,110,406 

1,122,534,965  2,570,050,230   3,692,585,195 

- 35,084,057        35,084,057 

58,449,189       - 58,449,189 

Balance as at 1 July 2018

Net result
Other comprehensive income for the year 

Increase in asset revaluation surplus
Balance as at 30 June 2019

Balance as at 1 July 2017

Net result
Other comprehensive income for the year 

Increase in asset revaluation surplus
Balance as at 30 June 2018 1,180,984,154  2,605,134,287   3,786,118,441 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Significant Accounting Policies.
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1

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

Date of authorisation

Constitution

Basis of consolidation

Statement of compliance

These general purpose financial statements are for the period 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019 and have been
prepared in compliance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2009 and the Local Government

Regulation 2012 . Consequently, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations and other authoritative
pronouncements issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

These general purpose financial statements comply with all accounting standards and interpretations issued by
the AASB that are relevant to Council's operations and effective for the current reporting period.

Controlled entities of Council during the reporting period were Cairns Art Gallery Limited (incorporating its
subsidiary Cairns Regional Gallery Arts Trust) and Cairns River Improvement Trust.

Cairns Art Gallery Limited is a company limited by guarantee and does not have any share capital. Significant
control is exercised by Council over the operations of the gallery. Of the eleven directors, six positions are
allocated to Council representatives. Control is able to be exercised by Council by determining the
composition of the Board as well as the capacity to appoint and remove directors and approve grant funding.

The accounts of Cairns Art Gallery Limited and Cairns River Improvement Trust have been assessed and have
not been consolidated with Council's accounts as at the reporting date due to immateriality. 

Cairns River Improvement Trust is a trust constituted in 1972 under the River Improvement Trust Act 1940 .  
Significant control is exercised by Council over the operations of the trust. Of the three membership positions
of the trust, two are currently filled by Council representatives. Council also provides the majority of the trusts
operating income.

Disposal of non-current assets are classified as either "Capital Income" or "Capital Expenses" depending on
whether they result in accounting gains or losses.

All other revenue and expenses have been classified as "recurrent".

Revenue and expenditure are presented as "recurrent" or "capital" in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
on the following basis:

Capital Revenue includes grants and subsidies received which are tied to specific projects for the replacement
or upgrade of existing non-current assets and/or investment in new assets. It also includes non-cash
contributions which are usually infrastructure assets received from developers.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial assets 
and liabilities and certain classes of property and plant and equipment which are measured at fair value.

Council is constituted under the Queensland Local Government Act 2009  and is domiciled in Australia.

The financial statements were authorised for issue on the date they were submitted to the Auditor-General for
final signature. This is the date the management certificate is signed.
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1.6 

Financial asset/liability Measurement category 
Cash and cash equivalents  Amortised Cost
Receivables    Amortised Cost
Borrowings   Amortised Cost

On 1 July 2018 (the date of initial application), Council re-assessed the classification, measurement category
and carrying amount of each financial instrument (listed below) in accordance with AASB 9. There were no
changes to classification or measurement categories. Carrying amounts were also unchanged, with changes to
the calculation of impairment of receivables not brought to account due to materiality.

New and revised Accounting Standards

AASB 16 replaces AASB 117 Leases and introduces new recognition and measurement criteria which may
result in previously off balance sheet leases, i.e. operating leases, becoming recognised and accounted for on
balance sheet.  A lease liability will initially be measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made 
over the lease term. A corresponding right-of-use asset will also be recognised over the lease term.

Leases in which Council is a lessee
Council has assessed the impact of AASB 16 on its operating leases, which was found to be immaterial.
Council does not intend to apply AASB 16 to these arrangements when it becomes effective, due to materiality.

Council has also elected not to recognise certain operating leases under the AASB 16 as they have been
assessed as being low-value assets under the standard.

Council has assessed the impacts that the initial application of AASB 16 will have on its financial statements,
however, the actual impacts may differ as the new accounting policies are subject to change until Council
presents its first financial statements that include the date of initial application.  

Leases in which Council is a lessor
No significant impact is expected for other leases in which Council is a lessor.

Some Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective. Those
standards have not been applied in these financial statements. Council will implement them when they are
effective.  The standards that are expected to be applicable to Council's future financial statements are:

AASB 9 Financial Instruments (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)
This year AASB 9 Financial Instruments became effective for the first time. AASB 9 replaces AASB 139 and
relates to the recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities. AASB 9
changes the way impairment provisions are calculated, which are now based on expected credit losses instead
of incurred credit losses. Council assessed the impact of this change, which was found to be immaterial and
not brought to account in these financial statements.

AASB 16 Leases  (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019)

Peppercorn Leases
Council is the lessee of a number of leases for which no or little lease payments are made. These have been
identified as peppercorn leases which are currently not recognised in Council's financial statements. Council
intends to elect to not apply the fair value measurement requirements to these leases until such time as this
requirement is mandated.
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Identifiable impacts at the date of this report are:

Some grants received by Council will be recognised as a liability, and subsequently recognised progressively
as revenue as Council satisfies its performance obligations under the grant. At present, such grants are
recognised as revenue upfront.

Grants that are not enforceable and/or not sufficiently specific will not qualify for deferral, and continue to be
recognised as revenue as soon as they are controlled. Council receives several grants from the Federal
Government and State Government for which there are no sufficiently specific performance obligations. These
are expected to continue being recognised as revenue upfront assuming no change to the current grant
arrangements.

Transition method
Council intends to apply AASB 15, AASB 1058 and AASB 2016-8 initially on 1 July 2019, using the modified
retrospective approach. The recognition and measurement principles of the standards will be retrospectively
applied for the current year and prior year comparatives as though the standards had always applied,
consistent with AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

Depending on the respective contractual terms, the new requirements of AASB 15 may potentially result in a
change to the timing of revenue from sales of Council's goods and services such that some revenue may need
to be deferred to a later reporting period to the extent that Council has received payment but has not met its
associated performance obligations (such amounts would be reported as a liability in the meantime). 

Prepaid rates will not be recognised as revenue until the relevant rating period starts. Until that time these
receipts will be recognised as a liability (unearned revenue). There will be no impact upon the recognition of
other fees and charges.

Based on Councils assessment, if Council had adopted the new standards in the current financial year it would
have had the following impacts:
- Decreases in operating revenue of $12.7M and capital revenue of approximately $8.5M due to deferral of pre-
paid rates and grant funding (based on the facts available to Council at the date of assessment).
- There would be an equal reduction in the reported equity as the reduced revenue will require an increase in
recognition of contract liabilities, and statutory receivables.
- Net result would be lower on initial application as a result of decreased revenue.
A range of new disclosures will also be required by the new standards in respect of Council's revenue.

Council intends to apply the practical expedients available for the full retrospective method. Where revenue
has been recognised in full under AASB 1004, prior to 1 July 2019, but where AASB 1058 would have required
income to be recognised beyond that date, no adjustment is required. Further, Council is not required to
restate income for completed contracts that start and complete within a financial year. This means where
income under AASB 1004 was recognised in the comparative financial year (i.e. 2018/19), these also do not
require restatement.

AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not-to-profit (NFP)
entities, in conjunction with AASB 15, and AASB 2016-8. These Standards supersede the majority of income
recognition requirements relating to public sector not-for-profit entities, previously in AASB 1004 Contributions.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers , AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities  and 
AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Australian Implementation Guidance 

for Not-for-Profit Entities  (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019)
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1.7

1.8 Taxation

Council pays payroll tax to the Queensland Government on certain activities.

• Annual leave - Note 11
• Developer contribution credits - Note 12
• Long service leave - Note 12
• Contingent liabilities - Note 16

In the application of Council's accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and ongoing
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised and in future periods as relevant. 

Where a significant business activity is subject to the National Tax Equivalents Regime, the income tax
expense is calculated on the operating surplus adjusted for permanent differences between taxable and
accounting income.  These transactions are eliminated upon consolidation.

The significant business activities of Council (as noted in Note 23) pay an income tax equivalent to Council in
accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2009.

Income of local authorities and public authorities is exempt from Commonwealth taxation. Council is subject to
Fringe Benefits Tax and Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’). The net amount of GST recoverable from the
Australian Tax Office ('ATO') or payable to the ATO is shown as an asset or liability respectively. 

• Financial instruments - Note 22

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

• Valuation of property, plant and equipment - Note 10

Judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a potential significant effect are outlined in the following
financial statement notes:
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(a) Components of Council functions

The activities relating to Council's components reported on in Note 2(b) are as follows :

Finance

Human Resources and Organisational Change

Planning and Environment

Infrastructure Services

Community, Sport and Cultural Services
Community, Sport and Cultural Services manages a number of the region's public facilities; including the
Botanical Gardens, Sugarworld, Munro Martin Parklands, Tanks Art Centre, museums and art galleries and the
region's libraries. This department also services parks and gardens with barbeque and picnic facilities, sports
grounds and playgrounds.

Cairns Water
Cairns Water is responsible for the provision of water and wastewater services to consumers throughout the
Cairns region. This includes supplying safe, reliable drinking water to consumers, collection and treatment of
domestic sewerage and commercial and industrial trade waste, planning for and delivering water and
wastewater infrastructure and maintenance of the community's water and wastewater infrastructure.

Cairns Resource Recovery
Cairns Resource Recovery is responsible for the provision of solid waste services to consumers throughout the
Cairns region, including collection, recycling and disposal of domestic, commercial and industrial solid waste,
planning for and delivering solid waste infrastructure and maintenance of the community's solid waste
infrastructure.

Cairns Works
Cairns Works is the principal provider of operational services to Council in the sub-programs of transport,
drainage, parks and foreshores and infrastructure management. Services delivered include construction of
municipal civil engineering projects, programmed and reactive maintenance activities and operational tasks on
Cairns Regional Council assets in accordance with agreed levels of service. External work is also undertaken
when and where there is an overall benefit to Council and the community.

The program provides the strategic planning and the provision of essential transport, drainage and parks
infrastructure, maintenance, construction and operational services to the community. It also facilitates the
coordination of Council's capital projects delivery.

Finance provides professional financial management and advisory services to Council. The core functions
include Cairns Shared Services, Financial Accounting, Information Services, Management Accounting, Payroll,
Centralised Procurement and Records.

Human Resources and Organisational Change are responsible for the provision of sustainable human
resources and organisational change services that support internal and external customers. Core functions
include Corporate Training, Governance, Recruitment and Selection, Service Quality, HR/IR Consultancy and
WH&S.

Planning and Environment delivers Council's aim of achieving sustainability by maintaining a healthy economy,
vibrant communities and a thriving biophysical environment. This includes Development and Regulatory
Services, Planning Strategies and Economic Development.

Infrastructure Services is responsible for ensuring infrastructure assets and facilities are procured, maintained
and operated within a framework of strategic planning and management that is consistent with corporate
objectives and best value service delivery.
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(b) Income, expenses and assets have been attributed to the following functions:

Year ended 30 June 2019
Functions Elimination of Total Elimination of Total Net result Net Assets

inter-function income Recurring Capital inter-function expenses from recurring Result
Grants Other Grants Other transactions transactions operations
2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Finance 6,075,271    162,835,769  45,455         - (49,542,244)  119,414,251    (39,561,291)    258,809 3,667,536       (35,634,946)    83,475,041    83,779,305      339,131,978 
Human Resources and 
Organisational Change

464,709       158,305         24,000         - - 647,014 (10,528,103)    (19,047) - (10,547,150)    (9,905,089) (9,900,136) 4,526,983 

Planning and 
Environment

141,416       16,186,286    169,163       - - 16,496,865      (21,770,928)    - - (21,770,928)    (5,443,226) (5,274,063) 20,180,219 

Infrastructure Services 300,927       578,094         17,111,035  21,619,057    - 39,609,113      (49,507,564)    (14,341,217)     - (63,848,781)    (48,628,543)  (24,239,668) 1,956,437,798 
Community, Sport and 
Cultural Services

902,160       4,562,357      10,956,746  100,000         - 16,521,263      (40,827,080)    (7,968,603)       - (48,795,683)    (35,362,563)  (32,274,420) 355,055,081 

Cairns Water - 131,614,283  1,637,171    8,110,351      (3,038,567)    138,323,238    (128,756,758)  (4,544,696)       42,741,548     (90,559,906)    42,560,506    47,763,332      1,315,250,094 
Cairns Resource 
Recovery

- 34,414,138    - - (628,970)       33,785,168      (34,138,786)    (275,354) 6,800,697       (27,613,443)    6,447,079      6,171,725        16,864,173 

Cairns Works - 2,198,959      - - - 2,198,959        (41,973,571)    - - (41,973,571)    (39,774,612)  (39,774,612) 430,779 
Total Council 
Continuing Operations

7,884,483    352,548,191  29,943,570  29,829,408    (53,209,781)  366,995,871    (367,064,081)  (26,890,108)     53,209,781     (340,744,408)  (6,631,407) 26,251,463      4,007,877,105 

Functions Elimination of Total Elimination of Total Net result Net Assets
inter-function income Recurring Capital inter-function expenses from recurring Result

Grants Other Grants Other transactions transactions operations
2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Finance 5,896,822    161,420,521  - - (50,754,337)  116,563,006    (21,595,616)    (1,368,913)       2,175,901       (20,788,628)    97,143,291    95,774,378      349,688,330 
Human Resources and 
Organisational Change

457,887       55,033 - - - 512,920 (10,172,179)    (70,518) 280,369 (9,962,328)      (9,378,890) (9,449,408) 771,454 

Planning and 
Environment

    2,274,019 12,682,660    638,000       24,729 - 15,619,408      (23,257,784)    (595,148) 109,349 (23,743,583)    (8,191,756) (8,124,175) 17,013,533 

Infrastructure Services          20,224 778,802         20,996,433  20,171,597    - 41,967,056      (52,260,508)    (27,459,156)     1,881,085       (77,838,579)    (49,580,397)  (35,871,523) 2,020,381,767 
Community, Sport and 
Cultural Services

    1,022,064 3,059,212      17,816,484  61,486 (14,099)         21,945,147      (41,058,668)    (4,512,378)       - (45,571,046)    (36,991,491)  (23,625,899) 309,569,669 

Cairns Water (300) 128,998,984  1,784,672    9,419,821      (4,134,302)    136,068,875    (127,421,106)  (3,362,251)       43,814,325     (86,969,032)    41,257,601    49,099,843      1,254,170,193 
Cairns Resource 
Recovery

-   32,815,102    - - (740,020)       32,075,082      (32,559,956)    (255,146) 6,940,010       (25,875,092)    6,455,136      6,199,990        16,131,877 

Cairns Works 3,500 1,277,822      - - - 1,281,322        (40,642,188)    - 441,717 (40,200,471)    (38,919,149)  (38,919,149) 223,346 
Total Council 
Continuing Operations

9,674,215    341,088,137  41,235,589  29,677,633    (55,642,758)  366,032,816    (348,968,005)  (37,623,510)     55,642,756     (330,948,759)  1,794,346      35,084,058      3,967,950,169 

Recurring

Capital

Capital

Gross program expenses

Year ended 30 June 2018
Gross program expenses

Recurring
Gross program income

Gross program income
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(a) Rates, levies and charges

2019 2018

$ $

General rates 114,361,671     111,821,126     
Special rates 668,375 654,840 
Water 22,102,285       21,528,064       
Water consumption 27,919,352       26,870,074       
Sewerage 71,420,611       69,194,878       
Cleansing charges 27,044,178       26,325,909       
Rates and utility charge revenue 263,516,472     256,394,891     
Less:  rebates (4,353,548)        (4,134,457)        
Net rates and utility charges 259,162,924     252,260,434     

(b) Other recurrent revenue

Contract and recoverable works 3,054,893         2,472,451         
Reimbursements and cost recoveries 2,224,894         1,503,396         
Sundry and other recurrent revenue 7,411,881         5,604,005         

12,691,668       9,579,852         

4

(i) Monetary revenue designated for capital funding purposes:
Government subsidies and grants 29,943,570       41,235,589       
Contributions 10,660,522       12,683,521       

40,604,092       53,919,110       

(ii) Non-monetary revenue received:
Developer assets contributed by developers at fair value 19,168,886       16,994,112       

Total capital grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 59,772,978       70,913,222       

Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations

Capital – grants, subsidies, contributions and donations are 

Where rate monies are received prior to the commencement of the rating/levying period, the amount is
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are received, otherwise rates are recognised in the rating
period.

Grants and subsidies
Grants, subsidies and contributions are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control over them.
Where grants are received that are reciprocal in nature, revenue is recognised as the various performance
obligations under the funding agreement are fulfilled.  Council does not currently have any reciprocal grants.

Non-cash contributions
Non-cash contributions with a value in excess of the recognition thresholds are recognised as revenue and as
non-current assets.  Non-cash contributions below the thresholds are recorded as revenue and expenses.

Other revenue is recognised as a receivable when it is probable that it will be received and the amount is
known, otherwise the amount is recognised upon receipt.
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2019 2018
Note $ $

Total staff wages and salaries 83,141,554        75,238,603        
Councillors' remuneration 1,172,808          1,147,904          
Annual, sick and long service leave entitlements 15,753,915        13,800,475        
Superannuation 17 9,981,056          9,319,480          

110,049,333      99,506,462        
Other employee related expenses 5,181,118          5,101,031          

115,230,451      104,607,493      
Less: Capitalised employee expenses (10,250,063)      (9,241,693)        

104,980,388      95,365,800        

2019 2018
Total Council employees at the reporting date: employees employees
Elected members 10 10 
Council Employees 1,177 1,116 
Total full time equivalent employees 1,187 1,126 

6 Materials and services

Agency and temporary employment services 7,025,979          7,685,266          
Audit of the Annual Financial Statements by the Auditor-General 
of Queensland

173,136 171,500 

Communication and IT 5,561,569          4,649,328          
Donations paid and grants to community groups 6,037,326          6,066,757          
Electricity 9,869,084          10,083,714        
External services and hire 27,108,904        23,858,853        
Garbage collection services 16,414,331        16,442,693        
Other materials and services 17,526,704        14,685,881        
Rentals - operating leases 559,995 767,737 
Repairs and maintenance 25,312,533        19,532,917        

115,589,561      103,944,646      

7 Capital expenses

Loss on disposal of capital assets 18,978,790        13,296,212        
Loss on write-off of non-current assets 7,911,318          2,613,762          
Revaluation decrement of property, plant and equipment 10(b) - 21,713,536 

26,890,108        37,623,510        

Capital expenses comprise the loss on disposal and write off of capital assets as well as revaluation
decrements unable to be recognised in the asset revaluation surplus. The gain or loss on disposal is
recognised on the date the asset was taken out of service.

Councillor remuneration represents salary and other allowances paid in respect of carrying out their duties.

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given in exchange for services rendered by employees. They
are expensed as the related service is provided.

Materials and services are comprised of Council's operational, administrative and repairs and maintenance
costs.  Expenditure is recognised on an accruals basis once the good or service has been received.

Total audit fees quoted by the Queensland Audit Office relating to the 2018/19 financial statements are
$179,000 (2018: $175,500)
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8

2019 2018
Note $ $

Cash in operating bank account 22 216,104 106,385 
Cash on hand 22 38,880 28,350 
Deposits and investments held with QTC 22 14,457,170 18,267,539 
Balance per Statement of Cash Flows 14,712,154 18,402,274 

Unspent government grants and subsidies 8,533,994 8,604,715 
Unspent developer contributions - 18,652 
Funds set aside and held in reserves for future projects 479,555 464,990 
Waste levy refund received in advance 973,758 - 
Total unspent restricted cash 9,987,307 9,088,357 

9

Trade receivables are recognised at the amounts due at the time of sale or service delivery i.e. the agreed
purchase price or contract price. Settlement of these amounts is generally required within 30 days from
invoice date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, all cash and cheques receipted but not banked at the year
end, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash deposits are held with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia in a normal business cheque account and in
an at call investment account with the Queensland Treasury Corporation.

The collectability of receivables is assessed periodically and if there is objective evidence that Council will not
be able to collect all amounts due, the carrying amount is reduced for impairment. The loss is recognised in
finance costs.  All known bad debts were written-off at 30 June.

Because Council is empowered under the provisions of the Local Government Act 2009 to sell an owner's
property to recover outstanding rate debts, Council does not impair any rate receivables.

Interest is charged on outstanding rates at a rate of 11% per annum. Effective 1 July 2019, this rate will be
9.83%. No interest is charged on other debtors. There is no concentration of credit risk for rates and utility
charges, fees and other debtors received.

Externally and internally imposed expenditure restrictions at the reporting date relate to the following cash
assets:

Cash at bank at 30 June 2019 includes $973,758 received from the State government in June 2019 to mitigate
the direct impacts on households of the State Waste Levy, which comes into effect from 1 July 2019. This
money has been set aside to help fund Council's 2019/20 levy expense.

Council will be liable to the State for payment of the Levy on most forms of commercial and household waste
delivered to its disposal sites from 1 July 2019. The State is required to make an annual payment to Council
that essentially refunds Council for the portion of the Levy that relates to households. Council will fund the
portion of the Levy that relates to commercial waste through charges to commercial users of disposal sites
from 1 July 2019. As the receipt from the State in June 2019 is for a refund of Council’s 2019/20 Levy
expense, the full amount has been recognised in other current liabilities at 30 June 2019.
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2019 2018
Note $ $

9
(a) a) Receivables (financial instruments)

Rateable revenue and utility charges 19,779,699 18,234,306 
Water charges 3,362,315 3,178,487 
Fees and charges 2,014,146 1,242,279 
Grants receivable 1,487,285 1,942,910 
Other debtors 3,386,178 3,208,988 
Less: impairment provision 9(b) (604,775) (1,647,281)        

29,424,848 26,159,689 

Receivables (non-financial instruments)
Other accrued revenue 6,091,289 5,859,632 
GST receivable 2,199,013 2,760,468 
Prepayments 2,710,746 2,868,836 

11,001,048 11,488,936 

Total current receivables 40,425,896 37,648,626 

b) Impairment provision
Opening balance at 1 July 1,647,281 1,374,484 
Receivables written off in period (525,421) (268,491) 
Provisions recognised/(derecognised) (517,085) 541,288 
Closing balance at 30 June 9(a) 604,775            1,647,281         

An amount of $1,051,076 was derecognised from the impairment provision during the year as a result of a
revision in Council's estimate of this provision.

Trade and other receivables
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ii) Measurement

iii) Depreciation

Each class of property, plant and equipment is stated at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Items of plant and equipment have an asset
capitalisation threshold of $5,000. All other assets have an asset capitalisation threshold of $10,000 except
for land, network assets and complex assets which all have a capitalisation threshold of $1.

Network assets are an aggregate of interrelated assets that perform a specific service which, individually are
likely to be below the capitalisation threshold levels, but collectively are above the capitalisation threshold for
their class. Networked assets include computers and communication equipment, parking meters, and library
books.

Land under roads and reserve land which fall under the Land Act 1994 or the Land Title Act 1994 is
controlled by the Queensland Government pursuant to the relevant legislation. This land is not recognised in
these financial statements.

Direct labour and materials and an appropriate proportion of overheads incurred in the acquisition or
construction of assets are treated as capital expenditure. Assets under construction are not depreciated until
they are completed and commissioned, at which time they are reclassified from work in progress to the
appropriate property, plant and equipment class.

Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life. Depreciation on other property, plant and equipment
assets is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write-off the value of each depreciable asset, less its
estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated useful life to Council. Management believe that the
straight-line basis appropriately reflects the pattern of consumption of all Council assets.

Routine operating maintenance, repair costs and minor renewals to maintain the operational capacity and
useful life of the non-current asset is expensed as incurred, while expenditure that relates to replacement of a
major component of an asset to maintain its service potential is capitalised.

Property, plant and equipment received in the form of contributions, are recognised as assets and revenue at
fair value where that value exceeds the recognition thresholds for the respective asset class.

Land and improvements, buildings, and all infrastructure assets are measured on the revaluation basis at fair
value. Other plant and equipment and work in progress are measured at cost.

Acquisitions of assets are initially recorded at cost. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given as
consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including freight in, architect's fees and engineering
design fees and all other establishment costs.

Assets are depreciated from the first day of the month following acquisition or, in respect of internally
constructed assets, from the first day of the month following the date an asset is completed and
commissioned ready for use.

Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these
components are assigned useful lives distinct from the asset to which they relate. Any expenditure that
increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and the new
depreciable amount is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset to Council.

Major spares purchased specifically for particular assets that are above the asset recognition threshold are
capitalised and depreciated on the same basis as the asset to which they relate.
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iv) Impairment `

Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment assets are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted where necessary to reflect any changes in the
pattern of consumption, physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence, or management
intentions. The condition assessments and subsequent estimation of remaining useful lives performed as part
of the annual valuation process for assets measured at written down current replacement cost are used to
estimate the useful lives of these assets at each reporting date. Details of the range of estimated useful lives
for each class are shown in Note 10(b).

Property, plant and equipment is assessed for indicators of impairment annually. If an indicator of possible
impairment exists, Council determines the asset's recoverable amount. Any amount by which the asset's
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss.

The depreciable amount of improvements to or on leasehold land is allocated progressively over the
estimated useful lives of the improvements to Council or the unexpired period of the lease, whichever is the
shorter.
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10 Property, plant and equipment
b) Movements in property, plant and equipment

2019
Total

Asset class

Basis of measurement Fair Value Fair Value Cost Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Cost
Fair Value Category Levels 2 & 3 Levels 2 & 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Asset  Values
Opening gross value as at 1 July 2018 358,553,020 372,174,384 135,408,304 1,715,576,793      1,113,862,096      992,393,510 616,142,972 20,444,805 150,947,868 5,475,503,752      
Additions at cost - - - - - - - - 148,567,455 148,567,455 
Contributed assets at valuation - - - 5,907,024 3,748,387 3,445,446 6,068,029 - - 19,168,886 
Internal transfers from work in progress 9,853,238 73,350,001 20,565,088 19,271,380 12,043,718 31,433,863 14,921,097 599,111 (182,037,496)        - 
Disposals (353,944) - (5,920,506) - - - - (40,000) - (6,314,450) 
Write-offs (44,964) (1,784,670) (2,908,569) (22,316,748) (2,405,935) (7,133,349) (79,447) (492,455) (7,911,318) (45,077,455) 
Revaluation adjustment to the asset 
revaluation surplus

3,668,199 7,265,653 - (38,771,605) 21,228,884 11,164,706 8,032,093 378,008 - 12,965,938 

Internal transfers between asset classes 35,563 771,846 (133,083) (674,326) - - - - - - 
Closing gross value as at 30 June 2019 371,711,112 451,777,214 147,011,234 1,678,992,518      1,148,477,150      1,031,304,176      645,084,744 20,889,469 109,566,509 5,604,814,126      

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Opening balance as at 1 July 2018 25,017,425 104,987,626 68,426,252 303,959,841 591,689,055 335,625,714 132,427,833 7,593,780 - 1,569,727,526      
Depreciation provided in period 2,328,233 7,610,784 12,731,800 23,860,199 14,561,826 20,048,611 6,560,895 663,316 - 88,365,664 
Depreciation on disposals - - (3,983,307) - - - - (20,846) - (4,004,153) 
Depreciation on write-offs (11,010) (578,354) (2,826,323) (9,007,421) (1,336,499) (3,754,356) (17,986) (235,313) - (17,767,262) 
Revaluation adjustment to the asset 
revaluation surplus

352,901 2,203,678 - 26,965,463 11,365,134 (21,615,920) 1,802,929 151,251 - 21,225,436 

Internal transfers to other asset classes 14,660 301,108 (20,346) (295,422) - - - - - - 
Closing accumulated depreciation 27,702,209 114,524,842 74,328,076 345,482,660 616,279,516 330,304,049 140,773,671 8,152,188 - 1,657,547,211      

Net value at 30 June 2019 344,008,903 337,252,372 72,683,158 1,333,509,858      532,197,634 701,000,127 504,311,073 12,737,281 109,566,509 3,947,266,915      

Residual value 9,269,068 
Range of estimated useful life in years 10-100 15-150 3-50 15-100 10-150 9-100 10-150 20-100

Additions comprise:
Renewals - - - - - - - - 80,238,089 80,238,089 
New assets - - - - - - - - 42,535,992 42,535,992 
Non-infrastructure additions - - - - - - - - 25,793,374 25,793,374 

Total additions - - - - - - - - 148,567,455 148,567,455 

Drainage Work in progressSolid waste 
disposal

Land and site 
improvements

Plant, equipment 
and other assets

Buildings and 
other structures

Transport assets Water Sewerage
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10 Property, plant and equipment
b) Movements in property, plant and equipment
2018

Total
Asset class

Basis of measurement Fair Value Fair Value Cost Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Cost
Fair Value Category Levels 2 & 3 Levels 2 & 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Asset  values
Opening gross value as at 1 July 2017 304,894,073 343,357,071 139,846,963 1,608,570,063      1,087,586,834      965,254,019 708,896,508 20,626,832 113,250,051 5,292,282,414      
Additions at cost - - - - - - - - 159,101,753 159,101,753 
Contributed assets at valuation - - - 4,801,361 3,288,995 4,053,871 4,849,884 - - 16,994,111 
Internal transfers from work in progress 1,274,906 26,033,569 15,225,986 64,241,792 2,076,501 2,958,447 6,269,031 709,940 (118,790,172)        - 

Disposals (282,712) (78,351) (3,819,692) - - - - - - (4,180,755) 
Write-offs (2,095,036) (12,884,004) (2,007,368) (3,758,653) (2,746,414) (3,783,183) (1,560,233) (467,158) (2,613,764) (31,915,813) 
Revaluation adjustment to the asset 
revaluation surplus

50,423,286 6,245,076 - 42,244,337 23,668,693 23,147,365 (80,548,350) (424,809) - 64,755,598 

Revaluation adjustment to income - - - - - - (21,713,536) - - (21,713,536) 
Internal transfers to other asset classes 4,338,503 9,501,023 (13,837,585) (522,107) (12,513) 762,991 (50,332) - - 179,980 
Closing gross value as at 30 June 2018 358,553,020 372,174,384 135,408,304 1,715,576,793      1,113,862,096      992,393,510 616,142,972 20,444,805 150,947,868 5,475,503,752      

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Opening balance as at 1 July 2017 27,680,819 152,129,581 56,780,163 275,578,633 567,083,320 309,467,014 94,772,874 8,655,878 - 1,492,148,282      
Depreciation provided in period 2,759,349 11,977,534 11,324,620 22,276,680 14,191,294 19,427,843 7,121,793 700,711 - 89,779,824 
Depreciation on disposals - (74,739) (2,684,497) - - - - - - (2,759,236) 
Depreciation on write-offs (1,698,759) (7,663,271) (1,525,867) (1,046,067) (1,888,455) (1,540,691) (213,332) (229,834) - (15,806,276) 
Revaluation adjustment to the asset 
revaluation surplus

(6,457,884) (44,079,005) - 7,781,895 12,437,701 7,903,294 30,253,383 (1,532,975) - 6,306,409 

Internal transfers to other asset classes 2,733,900 (7,302,474) 4,531,833 (631,300) (134,805) 368,254 493,115 - - 58,523 
Closing accumulated depreciation 25,017,425 104,987,626 68,426,252 303,959,841 591,689,055 335,625,714 132,427,833 7,593,780 - 1,569,727,526      

Net value at 30 June 2018 333,535,595 267,186,758 66,982,052 1,411,616,952      522,173,041 656,767,796 483,715,139 12,851,025 150,947,868 3,905,776,226      

Residual value 9,553,830 
Range of estimated useful life in years 10-100 15-150 3-50 15-100 10-150 9-100 10-150 20-100

Additions comprise:
Renewals - - - - - - - - 79,554,757 79,554,757 
New assets - - - - - - - - 60,567,535 60,567,535 
Non-infrastructure additions - - - - - - - - 18,979,461 18,979,461 

Total additions - - - - - - - - 159,101,753 159,101,753 

SewerageLand and site 
improvements

Buildings and 
other structures

Plant, equipment 
and other assets

Transport assets Water Drainage Solid waste 
disposal

Work in progress
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c) Valuation

(i) Valuation processes

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

(ii) Valuation techniques used to derive fair values

Land (Level 2)

Buildings and other structures (Level 2 and Level 3)

Non-current physical assets measured at fair value are revalued as necessary so the carrying amount of each
class does not materially differ from its fair value at reporting date. Comprehensive valuations are performed by a
mixture of independent, professionally qualified valuers and experienced Council Officers. A comprehensive
revaluation involves the asset or a representative sample of the asset class being physically inspected and a
replacement cost being arrived at from first principles. The fair value is then determined by combining the
replacement cost and remaining useful life based on condition to give written down current replacement cost.

In between comprehensive valuations, desktop or indexation reviews are conducted by either professionally
qualified valuers or Council Officers. This process involves the review and assessment of any factors that may
have materially impacted the condition rating of assets within the class as well as a review of cost assumptions
compared to the latest industry indexes, Council cost information as well as the advice of internal engineers and
independent third parties.

On revaluation, the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted to the revalued amount. At the date of revaluation,
the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the carrying amount of
the asset. The accumulated depreciation is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount
and the carrying amount of the asset.

Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is credited to the appropriate class of the asset
revaluation surplus, except to the extent it reverses a revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised
as an expense. A decrease in the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense to the extent it
exceeds the balance, in any, in the revaluation surplus of the asset.

In accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurements  are categorised on the following basis:

Fair value based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.
Fair value based on inputs that are directly or indirectly observable for the
asset or liability.
Fair value based on unobservable inputs for the asset and liability.

A desktop review was undertaken in 2019 by APV to determine fair value effective 30 June 2019 resulting in an
indexation factor between 0% and 6% being applied, depending on the land category.

The previous comprehensive valuation for buildings and other structures (excluding swimming pools) was
performed by APV as at 30 June 2018. The current use of each building was presumed to be its highest and best
use. During the revaluation process, two buildings were assessed on market value principles, which are deemed
to be their fair value based on level 2 inputs. The fair value has been derived from sale prices of comparable
properties after adjusting for differences in key attributes such as property size. 

Council's policy is to recognise transfers in and out of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period.
There were no transfers between any levels during the year.

Land values were comprehensively revalued effective 30 June 2018 by independent registered valuer APV
Valuers and Asset Management. Level 2 valuation inputs were used to value land held in freehold title as well as
land used for special purposes which is restricted under current zoning rules. Sales prices of comparable land
sites in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. The most significant
inputs into this valuation approach are price per square metre. 

CAIRNS REGIONAL COUNCIL 83

10 Property, plant and equipment

Cairns Regional Council
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019



Infrastructure assets (Level 3)

Transport (including roads, kerb and channel, medians and roundabouts)

CRC was measured by reference to the reproduction cost or replacement cost using the modern equivalent
asset, as appropriate to the particular asset. Unit cost rates are calculated on a full cost of replacement basis with
a new asset, including components that may not need to be replaced such as earth works. All cost calculations
have been based on the estimated current costs at 30 June 2019. In all cases the assets have been
disaggregated sufficiently to ensure a reliable measure of cost and service capacity.

Specialised buildings where inputs required significant professional judgement are classified as level 3. Where
buildings are of a specialist nature and there is no active market for the assets, fair value has been determined
on the basis of replacement cost with a modern equivalent having similar service potential. Replacement cost is
determined through a combination of APV's database, Rawlinson’s Construction Guide or similar guides,
benchmarking against other valuations and development of costs using APV's model for specific asset types. The
most significant inputs into this valuation approach were price per square metre.

Condition assessments were performed at the time of revaluation by APV for the purposes of assessing the level
of accumulated depreciation and remaining useful life for depreciation purposes. Assets capable of
disaggregation into significant components are componentised and depreciated separately based on their
estimated useful life and expected pattern of consumption of their future economic benefit. This includes splitting
each component where applicable into the short-term and long-life (recyclable) sub-components consistent with
the AASB 116 residual value clarification. The long-life and short-life sub-component information is combined to
give a weighted average amount for the relevant asset component. Condition was assessed taking into account
both physical characteristics as well as holistic factors such as functionality, capability, utilisation and
obsolescence.

All Council infrastructure assets (including transport, drainage, water and waste assets) were fair valued using
the "Current Replacement Cost" (CRC) methodology. The valuation comprises the asset's CRC less accumulated
depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired future economic
benefits of the asset. Council first determined the gross cost of replacing the full service potential of the asset and
then adjusted this amount to take account of the expired service potential of the asset. 

A desktop review was undertaken in 2019 by APV to determine fair value effective 30 June 2019 resulting in an 
indexation factor between 1.5% and 2% being applied, depending on the building category.

To arrive at the “fair value” for infrastructure assets, the direct construction costs have been increased by
appropriate on-cost factors to allow for various items that are relevant to the provision of infrastructure. The
factors vary according to the type of work, the location and local conditions, and are detailed against each asset
category further below.

During 2019, Council engaged external valuers to asses the replacement cost unit rates for Transport and
Sewerage (above ground) infrastructure assets. CRC for remaining infrastructure classes was determined at 30
June 2019 based on a review of price movements for labour, plant and materials (specific to Cairns). An
indexation factor of 1.89% was applied to water, sewerage and waste assets and 1.30% for the remaining
infrastructure assets. 

Transport assets were comprehensively valued by Council with inputs from external consultants Cardno (Qld) Ltd
and Phaze Solutions Pty Ltd effective 30 June 2019. Council categorises its transport infrastructure into sub-
classes of roads (formation, wearing course and pavement), kerb & channel, roundabouts, medians, traffic
signals and street lighting. Each sub-class is componentised based on cost to construct, material type and useful
life to facilitate valuations and depreciation calculations.  
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Bridges and Footpaths

Drainage

Water and Sewerage

Unit rates for transport assets (excluding traffic signals and street lighting) were developed by Cardno, who
previously undertook a review of the internally developed valuation unit rates in 2015. Cardno’s cost models
include inputs from the following sources:

• Cardno internal client database;
• Cardno Cairns office contract data;
• Councils schedule of rates as developed for 2015 valuation purposes (based on Far North Queensland

Region of Councils (FNQROC) prescribed standards); and
• Councils recent contract and preferred supplier agreement (PSA) data.

In determining accumulated depreciation, assets were allocated a condition rating between 1 and 5, which was
used to estimate remaining useful life (RUL). Where inspections were conducted, the assets condition was
determined based on visual record. Where inspections were not conducted, the RUL was extrapolated on an age
basis.  

The last comprehensive valuation of bridge and footpath assets was undertaken effective 30 June 2016. As part
of the comprehensive valuation, similar assets were aggregated to ensure a reliable measure of cost and service
capacity as well as deterioration of estimated RUL.

In determining the level of accumulated depreciation, bridge and footpath assets were disaggregated into
significant components which exhibited different useful lives. 

The RUL was calculated on an age basis. This assessment was made on the basis that maintenance and
renewal schedules for the assets were adhered to and defect notifications were inspected and actioned in a
timely manner throughout the year. Additionally, there were no major weather events during the year which would
have required an adjustment to the RUL.

Drainage assets were subject to a comprehensive valuation process effective 30 June 2018 with inputs from
external consultants, Cardno (Qld) Ltd and FlowPro Pty Ltd. Similar assets are aggregated by physical
characteristics, dimensions, depth and environmental parameters to ensure a reliable measure of cost and
service capacity as well as deterioration of estimated RUL.

Suitably qualified officers developed a condition assessment methodology which was used to condition rate all
drainage assets. A complete stocktake of Council's drainage network was then undertaken based upon Council's
mapping data. Appropriate sample sizes were determined for inspection, ratings were applied and extrapolated
based on the condition assessment methodology. All samples were statistically representative of the relevant
asset category. Inspections of pipes, culverts and associated infrastructure were carried out via CCTV by
FlowPro Pty Ltd.  All other inspections were undertaken by Council officers.

In determining accumulated depreciation, assets were allocated a condition rating between 1 and 5, which was
used to estimate RUL. Where inspections were conducted, the assets condition was determined based on visual
record. Where inspections were not conducted, the RUL was extrapolated on an age basis.  

A comprehensive valuation of water and sewerage assets was last undertaken by independent valuers, Cardno 
(Qld) Ltd as follows:
- Above ground sewerage assets effective 30 June 2019
- Sewerage and water mains effective 30 June 2016
- Above ground water assets effective 30 June 2017

CRC was calculated based on expected replacement costs. In all cases the assets were disaggregated to
component level to ensure a reliable measure of cost and service capacity and deterioration of estimated
remaining life.

CAIRNS REGIONAL COUNCIL 85

10 Property, plant and equipment

c) Valuation

Cairns Regional Council
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019



In determining the level of accumulated depreciation, water and sewerage assets were disaggregated into
significant components which exhibited different useful lives.

In determining accumulated depreciation, assets were allocated a condition rating between 1 and 5, which was 
used to estimate RUL.  Where inspections were conducted, the assets condition was determined based on visual 
record. Where inspections were not conducted, the RUL was extrapolated on an age basis.  

The valuation undertaken involved the assessment of relevant cost indices, Cardno's own unit rate movements
and professional opinions. Relevant indices reviewed included Rawlinson's Building Price Index, the Implicit Price
Deflator and the Produce Price Index. Cardno’s unit rates are derived from a combination of first principles,
tender data, actual contract data, professional opinions and building indices, and are updated yearly where
possible. Due to the nature of some asset classes such as treatment plants, it is occasionally not likely to have
actual contract data available which leads to reliance on professional opinions and indexation as tools for
updating the unit rates of such asset classes.
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Salaries and wages

Annual leave

Sick leave

Superannuation

2019 2018
$ $

Current
Creditors and accruals 41,226,439       32,473,478       
Annual leave 11,593,614       10,965,067       
Sick leave 1,952,855         1,938,771         
Other entitlements 373,019 339,444 

55,145,927       45,716,760       

12 Provisions

Long service leave

Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the
agreed purchase/contract price net of applicable discounts other than contingent discounts. Amounts
owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms.

A liability for long service leave is measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to
be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. The value of the liability is
calculated using current pay rates and projected future increases in those rates and includes related
employee on-costs. The estimates are adjusted for the probability of the employee remaining in Council's
employment or other associated employment which would result in Council being required to meet the
liability. Adjustments are then made to allow for the proportion of the benefit earned to date, and the result
is discounted to present value. The interest rates attaching to Commonwealth Government guaranteed
securities at the reporting date are used to discount the estimated future cash outflows to their present
value. This liability is reported as a provision. 

Where employees have met the prerequisite length of service a probability factor is applied to determine
the portion of their entitlement likely to be taken within the next twelve months. This is classified as a
current liability, with the remainder classified as non-current.

A liability for salaries and wages is recognised and measured as the amount unpaid at the reporting date at
current pay rates in respect of employees' services up to that date. 

A liability for annual leave is recognised. Amounts expected to be settled within 12 months are calculated
on current wage and salary levels and includes related employee on-costs. Amounts not expected to be
settled within 12 months are calculated on projected future wage and salary levels and related employee
on-costs, and are discounted to present values. 

Council has an obligation to pay a portion of sick leave on termination to certain employees and therefore a
liability has been recognised for this obligation.  

The superannuation expense for the reporting period is the amount of the contribution Council makes to
the superannuation plan which provides benefits to its employees. Details of those arrangements are set
out in Note 17.
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Developer contribution credits

2019 2018
$ $

Current
Developer contribution credits 3,666,493         2,859,422         
Long service leave 1,338,124         1,219,797         

5,004,617         4,079,219         
Non-current

Developer contribution credits 7,491,356         8,092,634         
Long service leave 13,827,129       13,060,443       

21,318,485       21,153,077       

Details of movements in provisions:

Long service leave
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 14,280,240       13,802,498       
Long service leave entitlements arising 2,623,528         2,045,667         
Long service leave entitlements paid (1,738,515)        (1,567,925)        
Balance at end of financial year 15,165,253       14,280,240       

Developer contribution credits
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 10,952,056       9,739,368         
Developer contribution credits arising 205,793 4,910,300         
Developer contribution credits paid - (3,697,612) 
Balance at end of financial year 11,157,849       10,952,056       

13 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised cost. 

Where borrowing costs can be attributed to a specific capital project, the costs are capitalised as part of
the qualifying asset during construction. Otherwise, borrowing costs are expensed as finance costs when
they are incurred. 

Costs that are not settled in the period in which they are incurred are included in payables. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless Council has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

The provision is classified as current where payment is expected to be settled within 12 months and is
classified as non-current where payment is not expected to be settled within 12 months. Where payment
for the trunk infrastructure assets is not expected to be settled within 12 months, the value of the payment
is discounted to present value.

A provision is made for the cost of trunk infrastructure assets constructed by developers on behalf of
Council. The provision is raised when construction works are sufficiently progressed that the value and
timing of payment can be reliably measured. Corresponding assets are also recognised within work in
progress at this time. Where the value of the trunk infrastructure assets cannot be reliably measured, a
contingent liability and corresponding contingent asset are disclosed.
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Unsecured borrowings

Working capital facility

2019 2018
$ $

Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) 14,059,274       11,880,019       
Economic Development Queensland (EDQ)** 281,250 - 

14,340,524       11,880,019       

Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) 104,889,989     98,838,037       
Economic Development Queensland (EDQ)** 1,968,750         - 

106,858,739     98,838,037       

Loan market value at the reporting date 122,771,212     109,674,484     

14 Commitments for expenditure
a)

Contract for Regional Waste Management Facility:
Not later than 1 year 10,642,000       10,529,000       
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 45,295,848       44,814,883       
Later than 5 years 24,381,904       35,595,709       

80,319,752       90,939,592       

Details of borrowings at the reporting date are:

Unsecured borrowings are provided by the Queensland Treasury Corporation. All borrowings are in
Australian dollars and carried at amortised cost. No assets have been pledged as security by Council for
any liabilities, however all loans are guaranteed by the Queensland Government. Expected final
repayment dates vary from 15 June 2023 to 15 June 2029.

There have been no defaults or breaches of the loan agreement during the period. Principal and interest
repayments are made monthly in arrears.

In accordance with the Local Government Regulation 2012 Council adopts an annual debt policy that sets
out Council's planned borrowings for the current financial year and the next nine years. Council's current
policy is to only borrow for capital projects and for a term no longer than 20 years. Council also aims to
comply with the Queensland Treasury Corporation's borrowing guidelines and ensure that sustainability
indicators remain within acceptable levels at all times.

Contractual commitments

A working capital facility of $60,000,000 has been established with the Queensland Treasury Corporation.
As at 30 June 2019 there were no working capital drawdowns.  

Current

Non-Current

Contractual commitments at the reporting date but not recognised in the financial statements are as
follows:

A reconciliation of liabilities arising from finance activities can be found at note 20.

**This is an interest free loan over 9 years obtained from Economic Development Queensland as part of
the Priority Development Infrastructure Co-Investment Program. The funds were used to construct trunk
sewerage infrastructure at Mount Peter.  

The funds were received in September 2018 with repayment to be made in 8 equal instalments over the
loan period. The loan has been measured at amortised cost and not fair value. The benefit of the interest
free terms has not been brought into account in these financial statements due to materiality. 
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2019 2018

Note $ $

a)
Contract for Other commitments:

Not later than 1 year 25,128,726        18,907,762        
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 42,566,646        36,837,126        
Later than 5 years 21,578,208        24,560,052        

89,273,580        80,304,940        

b) Capital commitments

Capital assets 13,146,892        24,433,608        
13,146,892        24,433,608        

Not later than 1 year 13,146,892        24,433,608        
13,146,892        24,433,608        

15 Events after the reporting date

16 Contingent liabilities
a)

275,000 496,500 

22(a) 2,919,934          2,718,641          

b)
Loans and bank guarantees to community organisations 1,625,840          1,393,162          

Contractual commitments

Loan and bank guarantees

Contingent liabilities

Additional claims may exist, however, these have not been quantified to date.

Details and estimates of maximum amounts of contingent liabilities are as follows:

Various claims are pending against Council. In the opinion of 
Council’s solicitor the potential loss on all claims as at 30 June 
2019 should not exceed:

Cairns Regional Council is a member of the Queensland local government workers compensation self-
insurance scheme, Local Government Workcare. Under this scheme Council has provided an
indemnity towards a bank guarantee to cover bad debts which may remain should the self insurance
licence be cancelled and there were insufficient funds available to cover outstanding liabilities. Only the
Queensland Government's workers compensation authority may call on any part of the guarantee
should the above circumstances arise. Council's maximum exposure to the bank guarantee is:

There were no material financial adjusting events after the reporting date.

Commitment for the construction of capital assets contracted for at the reporting date but not
recognised as liabilities are as follows:

Cairns Regional Council is a member of the Local Government Mutual liability self-insurance pool, LGM
Queensland. In the event of the pool being wound up or it is unable to meet its debts as they fall due,
the trust deed and rules provide that any accumulated deficit will be met by the individual pool members
in the same proportion as their contribution is to the total pool contributions in respect to any year that a
deficit arises. As at 30 June 2017, the financial statements of Local Government Mutual Queensland
reported an accumulated surplus and it is not anticipated any liability will arise. As at 30 June 2018, the
financial statements of Local Government Mutual Queensland reported a members' equity balance of
$75,834,341 (2017: $70,521,289).
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2019 2018
Note $ $

557,551         657,024         

9,308,516      8,541,085      

114,989         121,371         

5 9,981,056      9,319,480      

Cairns Regional Council contributes to the LGIAsuper Regional Benefits Fund (the scheme), at the rate of 12%
for each permanent employee who is a defined benefit member. This rate is set in accordance with the
LGIAsuper trust deed and may be varied on the advice of an actuary. The Regional Defined Benefits Fund is a
complying superannuation scheme for the purpose of the Commonwealth Superannuation Industry (Supervision)
legislation and is also governed by the Local Government Act 2009 . 

The scheme is a defined benefit plan, however Council is not able to account for it as a defined benefit plan in
accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits because LGIAsuper is unable to account for its proportionate
share of the defined benefit obligation, plan assets and costs.

The most significant risks that may result in LGIAsuper increasing the contribution rate, on the advice of the
actuary, are:

Investment risk - The risk that the scheme's investment returns will be lower than assumed and additional 
contributions are needed to fund the shortfall.

Cairns Regional Council also contributes to the superannuation
scheme for the benefit of elected members. The amount of
contributions paid for this benefit during the reporting period was:

Council expects to make contributions to the Regional Defined Benefits Funds of $589,492 in 2019/20.

Any amount by which the scheme is over or under funded may affect future benefits and result in a change to
the contribution rate, but has not been recognised as an asset or liability of Council.

Salary growth risk - The risk that wages or salaries will rise more rapidly than assumed, increasing vested 
benefits to be funded.

The amount of superannuation contributions paid by Cairns Regional
Council to the superannuation scheme in this period for the benefit of
employees was:

Total superannuation contributions paid by Council:

Technically Cairns Regional Council can be liable to the scheme for a portion of another local governments’
obligations should that local government be unable to meet them. However the risk of this occurring is extremely
low and in accordance with the LGIAsuper trust deed changes to council's obligations will only be made on the
advice of an actuary.

The last completed actuarial assessment of the scheme was undertaken as at 1 July 2018. The actuary
indicated that “At the valuation date of 1 July 2018, the net assets of the scheme exceeded the vested benefits
and the scheme was in a satisfactory financial position as at the valuation date". Council is not aware of anything
that has happened since that time that indicates the assets of the scheme are not sufficient to meet the vested
benefits, as at the reporting date.

The next triennial actuarial review is not due until 1 July 2021.

No changes have been made to prescribed employer contributions which remain at 12% of employee assets and
there are no known requirements to change the rate of contributions.

There are currently 62 entities contributing to the scheme and any changes in contribution rates would apply
equally to all 62 entities. Council made less than 4% of the total contributions to the plan in the 2018/19 financial
year.  

Superannuation contributions made to the Regional Defined Benefits
Fund in this period for the benefit of employees was:
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2019 2018
$ $

96,985 32,211 
Security deposits 3,666,547      3,403,251      

3,763,532      3,435,462      

19

Net result attributable to Council 26,251,463    35,084,057    

Depreciation and amortisation 89,654,847    91,090,841    
89,654,847    91,090,841    

Capital grants, subsidies and contributions (59,772,978) (70,913,222) 
Capital expenses 26,890,108    37,623,510    
(Increase)/decrease for capital accruals 1,470,157      (3,461,404)    

(31,412,713) (36,751,116) 

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (2,777,270)    (1,085,538)    
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 83,702 (15,346) 
Increase/(decrease) in payables 9,429,167      (6,804,532)    
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 885,013         1,690,431      
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 933,791         (587,041)       

8,554,403      (6,802,026)    

Net cash inflow from operating activities 93,048,000    82,621,756    

20 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from finance activities

Loans
As at 1 July 110,718,056  87,509,687    

Cash proceeds from borrowings 22,250,000    32,000,000    
Cash repayments of borrowings (11,768,793) (8,791,631)    
Non-cash changes - - 

At at 30 June 121,199,263  110,718,056  

21 Transactions with Related Parties

a) Controlled Entities

Council performs only a custodial role in respect of these monies. As the monies cannot be used for Council
purposes, they are not brought to account in these financial statements. Funds held in the trust account on
behalf of outside parties include those funds from the sale of land for arrears in rates, deposits for the
contracted sale of land, security deposits lodged to guarantee performance and unclaimed monies paid into the
trust account by Council.  

Monies collected or held on behalf of other entities yet to be paid out to 
or on behalf of those entities

Investing and development activities:

Reconciliation of net result attributable to Council to net cash flow from operating activities

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Controlled entities of Council are Cairns Art Gallery (incorporating its subsidiary Cairns Regional Gallery Arts
Trust) and Cairns River Improvement Trust.  Details of controlled entities are disclosed in Note 1.

During the year, Council provided funding to Cairns Art Gallery with a total value of $1,407,451 (2018: $1,338,367)
under a three year funding agreement effective 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2020, and a payment to Cairns River
Improvement Trust with a total value of $200,000 (2018: $200,000) as required by legislation. In addition, the
premises occupied by Cairns Art Gallery are provided to them by Council for a nominal annual amount. Both
entities are dependent on funding provided by Council. Funding support has been agreed to by Council for the
2018/19 financial year.  

The Local Government Superannuation Scheme is also a related entity of Council. Details including contributions
made during the year are disclosed in Note 17.

Non-cash operating items:
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b) Transactions with key management personnel (KMP)

2019 2018
$ $

Short-term employee benefits 3,588,023        3,277,173        
Post-term benefits 358,837 335,699 
Long-term benefits 47,772 43,961 
Termination benefits 109,810 - 
Total 4,104,442        3,656,833        

c) Transactions with other related parties

Employee expenses for close family members of KMP 1,088,528        587,477 
Professional services 16,204 - 

d) Outstanding balances

e) Loans and guarantees to/from related parties

f) Commitments to/from other related parties

g) Transactions with related parties that have not been disclosed

- Payment of rates, fees and charges
- Dog registration
- Use of Council facilities such as swimming pools and car parking

KMP include the Mayor, Councillors, Council's Chief Executive Officer and executive management. The
compensation paid to KMP comprises: 

Close family members of KMP were employed through an arm's length process in accordance with Council's
recruitment policies. They are paid in accordance with the relevant award for the job they perform. The above
figure includes all remuneration received by close family members of KMP.

Most of the entities and people that are related parties of Council live and operate within the Cairns Region.
Therefore, on a regular basis ordinary citizen transactions occur between Council and its related parties. Some
examples include:

Council has not included these types of transactions in its disclosure, where they are made on the same terms
and conditions available to the general public. 

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the annual report.

Council does not make loans to or receive loans from related parties. No guarantees have been provided.

There were no material balances outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions with
related parties. No expense has been recognised in the current year or prior year for bad or doubtful debts in
respect of amounts owed by related parties.

A company controlled by a KMP provided professional services to Council during the year. Transactions occurred
through an arm's length process under normal terms and conditions. There were no other material transactions
with other related parties during the year. All transactions with other related parties occurred at arm's length and
under Council's normal terms and conditions.

Other related parties include the close family members of KMP and any entities controlled or jointly controlled by
KMP or their close family members. Close family members include a spouse, child and dependent of a KMP or
their spouse.  Details of transactions between Council and other related parties are disclosed below:

Council has no outstanding commitments to/from other related parties.
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a) Financial risk
management

i) Credit risk

No collateral is held as security relating to the financial assets held by Council.

2019 2018
Note $ $

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - bank 8 216,104 106,385 
Cash and cash equivalents - on hand 8 38,880 28,350 
Cash and cash equivalents - QTC 8 14,457,170          18,267,539      
Receivables - rates 9 23,142,014          21,412,793      
Receivables - other 9 6,282,834 13,366,997      

Other credit exposures
Guarantee 16(a) 2,919,934 2,718,641        

Total 47,056,936          55,900,705      

Cash and cash equivalents

Council's audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with Council's risk management
policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk managements framework in relation to the
risks faced by Council. Council's audit committee is assisted in its oversight role by internal audit. Internal
audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results
of which are reported to the audit committee.

The carrying amounts of financial assets at the end of the reporting period represent the maximum exposure
to credit risk for Council.

Council is responsible for the establishment and oversight of a risk management framework, together with
developing and monitoring risk management policies. Council's management approves policies for overall
risk management, as well as specifically for managing credit, liquidity and market risk.

Council's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced, to set appropriate
limits and controls and to monitor these risks and adherence against limits. Council aims to manage volatility
to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of Council. 

Council may be exposed to credit risk through its investments in the QTC Cash Fund and QTC Working
Capital Facility. The QTC Cash Fund is an asset management portfolio that invests with a wide range of
high credit rated counterparties. Deposits with the QTC Cash Fund are capital guaranteed. Working
Capital Facility deposits have a duration of one day and all investments are required to have a minimum
credit rating of "A-", therefore the likelihood of the counterparty having capacity to meet its financial
commitments is strong.

Investments in financial instruments are required to be made with Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC)
or similar state/commonwealth bodies or financial institutions in Australia, in line with the requirements of the
Statutory Bodies Financial Arrangements Act 1982 .

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of credit counterparty ability to meet payment
obligations. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations. These obligations arise principally from Council's investments and receivables from customers.

Council does not enter into derivatives.

The following table represents the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the carrying amounts of
financial assets at the end of the reporting period:

CAIRNS REGIONAL COUNCIL 94

22 Financial instruments and financial risk management

Cairns Regional Council
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019



Other financial assets

2019 2018
$ $

Receivables subject to impairment
Fully performing 2,786,432       3,043,177      
Past due

31 to 60 days 201,434          253,139         
61 to 90 days 105,832          96,737 
Over 90 days 1,471,014       1,077,217      

Total gross carrying amount 4,564,712       4,470,270      

Less: impairment provision (604,775)         (1,647,281)     

3,959,937       2,822,989      

Receivables not subject to impairment
Rates and charges 25,464,911     23,336,700    

25,464,911     23,336,700    

29,424,848     26,159,689    

ii) Liquidity risk

Other investments are held with financial institutions, which are rated A-1+, A-2 and unrated, and whilst not capital
guaranteed, the likelihood of a credit failure is assessed as remote.

By the nature of Councils operations, there is a geographical concentration of risk in Council's area. Because the
area is largely tourism, there is also a concentration in the tourism sector.

Ageing of past due receivables and the amount of any impairment is disclosed in the following table:

Trade and other receivables

Receivables are measured at amortised cost which approximates fair value at reporting date. Trade debtors are
recognised at the amounts due at the time of sale or service delivery i.e. the agreed purchase/contract price.
Settlement of these amounts is generally required within 30 days from invoice date.

When Council has no reasonable expectation of recovering an amount owed by a debtor, and has ceased
enforcement activity, the debt is written-off by directly reducing the receivable against the impairment provision. If
the amount of debt written off exceeds the impairment provision, the excess is recognised as an impairment loss.
Accounting for impairment losses is dependent upon the individual group of receivables subject to impairment.
Council has identified 2 distinctive groupings of its receivables: Rates and Charges and Other Debtors.

Rates and Charges: This group of receivables possess a credit enhancement. Council is empowered under the
provisions of the Local Government Act 2009 to sell an owner's property to recover outstanding rate debts,
therefore rates and charges are not impaired. Impairment will exist only if arrears are deemed to be greater than
the proceeds Council would receive from the sale of the respective property. This group includes statutory
charges which, when unpaid, are treated in the same manner as rates debts.

Other Debtors: Council identifies other debtors as receivables which are not rates and charges. For these debtors,
Council assesses the credit risk before providing goods or services and applies normal business credit protection
procedures to minimise the risk.

Liquidity risk is the risk that Council will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Council is exposed to liquidity risk through its normal course of business and through its borrowings with QTC.

Council's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet
its labilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses
or risking damage to Council's reputation.

CAIRNS REGIONAL COUNCIL 95

22 i)   Credit risk

Cairns Regional Council
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019



2019 2018
$ $

QTC working capital facility 60,000,000 60,000,000    
Available at 30 June 60,000,000 60,000,000    

Total contractual cash 
flows

0 to 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Carrying 
amount

$ $ $
2019
Trade and other payables 41,226,439     - - 
Loans - QTC 16,761,625     67,067,927      47,386,705      
Loans - EDQ 281,250          1,125,000        843,750 

58,269,314     68,192,927      48,230,455      

Total contractual cash 
flows

0 to 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Carrying 
amount

$ $ $
2018
Trade and other payables 32,473,478     - - 32,473,478     32,473,478    
Loans - QTC 14,546,973     58,336,977      50,986,199      123,870,149   110,718,057  

47,020,451     58,336,977      50,986,199      156,343,628   143,191,535  

iii) Market risk

Interest rate risk

b) Fair value

The fair value of borrowings with QTC is based on the market value of the debt outstanding. The market value of a
debt obligation is the discounted value of future cash flows based on prevailing market rates and represents the
amount required to be repaid if this was to occur at balance date. The market value of debt is provided by QTC
and is discussed in Note 13.

QTC applies a book rate approach in the management of debt and interest rate risk, to limit the impact of market
value movements to clients' cost of funding. The book value represents the carrying value based on amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, will affect Council's income or the
value of its holdings of financial instruments.

Council is exposed to interest rate risk through investments and borrowings with QTC. Council has access to a
mix of variable and fixed rate funding options through QTC so that interest rate risk exposure can be minimised.

Council's loan from Economic Development Queensland is interest free and not subject to interest rate risk.

Council does not account for any fixed-rate financial assets or financial liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or
Loss, therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

The fair value of trade and other receivables and payables is assumed to approximate the value of the original
transaction, less any allowance for impairment.

The outflows in the table are not expected to occur significantly earlier and are not expected to be for significantly
different amounts than indicated in the table.

$ $

174,692,696     162,425,702    

41,226,439       
131,216,257     

41,226,439      
118,949,263    

2,250,000         2,250,000        

Total

$ $

Total

Council manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash deposits and undrawn facilities, both
short and long term, to cater for unexpected volatility in cash flows. These facilities are disclosed in note 13. The
following lines of credit were available at the end of the reporting period.  

The following table sets out the liquidity risk in relation to financial liabilities held by Council. It represents the
remaining contractual cash flows (principal and interest) of financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period,
excluding the impact of netting agreements:
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Significant Business Activities of Council are:
• Cairns Water which manages the water and wastewater activities.
• Cairns Resource Recovery which manages the solid waste activities.

Applying the CCC

2018/19 Activity Statements

Cairns Water Cairns Resource 
Recovery

$ $
Revenue

Services provided to the Council 21,821,520          2,048,223 
Services provided to external clients 137,952,212        33,785,170          
Community Service Obligations (net of charges) 758,409 702,610 

Revenue Total 160,532,141        36,536,003          
Less: Expenditure

Employee Costs 24,994,782          3,412,476 
Materials and Services 45,401,020          25,363,061          
Depreciation 35,113,297          684,416 
Other Expenditure 19,580,595          2,315,563 

Expenditure Total 125,089,694        31,775,516          
Surplus/(Deficit) Before Dividend 35,442,447          4,760,487 

2018/19 Community Service Obligations
2019

Activities CSO Description $

Water Service locations 20,185 
Fire Hydrants Maintenance 677,228 
Total 697,413 

Wastewater Service locations 60,996 
Total 60,996 

Waste Services Free dumping general waste 183,259 
Free dumping vegetation 270,780 
Free mulch 99,037 
Community clean up events 5,446 
Hazardous Waste Disposal 110,954 
Schools Recycling 29,060 
In Kind Waste & Recycling Collections 2,874 
Donations of buy back items to charity 1,200 
Total 702,610 

Significant Business Activities

Applying the CCC requires the application of full cost pricing, identifying the cost of Community Service
Obligations (CSO) and eliminating the advantages and disadvantages of public ownership within that activity. 

The CSO represents an activity’s costs, which would not be incurred if the activity’s primary objective was to
make a profit. The Council provides funding from general revenue to the business activity to cover the cost of
providing non-commercial community services or costs deemed to be CSO’s by the Council.

Below are the Activity Statements for the Significant Business Activities of which the Code of Competitive
Conduct applies for the 2018/19 financial year, as required by Section 35 of the Local Government Regulation

2012 .
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Cairns Regional Council 

Management Certificate 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to Sections 176 and 177 of the Local 
Government Regulation 2012 (the Regulation) and other prescribed requirements. 

In accordance with Section 212(5) of the Regulation we certify that: 

(i) the prescribed requirements of the Local Government Act 2009 and Local Government Regulation 2012 for the
establishment and keeping of accounts have been complied with in all material respects; and 

(ii) the general purpose financial statements as set out on pages 1 to 33 present a true and fair view, in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, of the Council's transactions for the financial year and financial position at the
end of the year.

Terry James 

Acting Mayor 

Date: 25 September 2019 

u 
John Andrejic 

Chief Executive Officer 

Date: 25 September 2019 
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To the Councillors of Cairns Regional Council 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying financial report of Cairns Regional Council (the council). 

In my opinion, the financial report: 

a) gives a true and fair view of the as at 30 June 2019, and of 
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 

b) complies with the Local Government Act 2009, the Local Government Regulation 2012
and Australian Accounting Standards.

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements including significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the certificate given by the Acting 
Mayor and Chief Executive Officer. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing 
Standards, which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial report section of my report. 

I am independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 
Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code 
and the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Other information 

Other information comprises the information included in Cairns Regional C  annual 
report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the financial report and my 

port the 
current year financial sustainability statement and long-term financial sustainability statement 
and the annual report. 

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly I do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. However, as required by the Local 
Government Regulation 2012, I have expressed a separate opinion on the current year 
financial sustainability statement. 



In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report and my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the council for the financial report 

The council is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with the Local Government Act 2009, the Local Government Regulation 
2012 and Australian Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as the council 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

The council is also responsible for assessing the council's ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless it is intended to abolish the council or to otherwise cease 
operations.  

eport 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

port that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the council's internal control. 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the council. 



Conclude on the appropriateness of the council's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the council's 
ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I 

financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. I base my 

However, future events or conditions may cause the council to cease to continue as a 
going concern.  

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with the council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2019: 

a) I received all the information and explanations I required.

b) In my opinion, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping
of accounts were complied with in all material respects.

Patrick Flemming 

25 September 2019 

Queensland Audit Office 
as delegate of the Auditor-General Brisbane 



Cairns Regional Council 

Current-year Financial Sustainability Statement 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

Measures of Financial Sustainability 

How the measure is calculated 

Operating surplus ratio* Net result (excluding capital items) 
divided by total operating revenue 
(excluding capital items) 

Asset sustainability ratio Capital expenditure on the 
replacement of assets (renewals) 
divided by depreciation expense. 

Net financial liabilities ratio Total liabilities less current assets 
divided by total operating revenue 
(excluding capital items) 

Target 30 June 2019 
Result 

Between 0% (2%) 
and 10% 

Greater than 106% 
90% 

Not greater 48% 
than 60% 

• Included in the operating surplus ratio is $6.6M of Enterprise Resource Planning software implementation costs
that are not expected to be recurrent. Council is satisfied that it has sufficient revenue to cover operational and
capital funding expenditure.

Note 1 - Basis of Preparation 

The current year financial sustainability statement is a special purpose statement prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Government Regulation 2012 and the Financial Management (Sustainability) Guideline 
2013. The amounts used to calculate the three reported measures are prepared on an accrual basis and are drawn 
from the Council's audited general purpose financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019. 

Certificate of Accuracy 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

This current-year financial sustainability statement has been prepared pursuant to Section 178 of the Local 
Government Regulation 2012 (the regulation). 

In accordance with Section 212(5) of the Regulation we certify that this current-year financial sustainability statement 
has been accurately calculated. 

Terry James 
Acting Mayor 

25 September 2019 

u 
John Andrejic 
Chief Executive Officer 

25 September 2019 
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT  REPORT 

To the Councillors of Cairns Regional Council 

Report on the current year financial sustainability statement 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying current year financial sustainability statement of Cairns 
Regional Council (the council) for the year ended 30 June 2019, comprising the statement, 
explanatory notes, and the certificate of accuracy given by the Acting Mayor and the 
Chief Executive Officer. 

In accordance with section 212 of the Local Government Regulation 2012, in my opinion, in 
all material respects, the current year financial sustainability statement of Cairns Regional 
Council for the year ended 30 June 2019 has been accurately calculated. 

Basis of opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing 
Standards, which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the responsibilities for the audit of the 
current year financial sustainability statement section of my report.  

I am independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the statement in 
Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code 
and the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Emphasis of matter  basis of accounting 

I draw attention to Note 1 which describes the basis of accounting. The current year financial 
sustainability statement has been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management 
(Sustainability) Guideline 2013 for the purpose of fulfilling the c
responsibilities under the Local Government Regulation 2012. As a result, the statement 
may not be suitable for another purpose. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other Information 

Other information comprises the information included in Cairns Regional Council  annual 
report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the current year financial 
sustainability statement report 
the other information was the general purpose financial statements and long-term financial 
sustainability statement and the annual report. 

My opinion on the current year financial sustainability statement does not cover the other 
information and accordingly I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
However, as required by the Local Government Regulation 2012, I have expressed a 
separate opinion on the general purpose financial report. 



In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report and my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the council for the current year financial sustainability statement 

The council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the current year 
financial sustainability statement in accordance with the Local Government Regulation 2012. 
The council s responsibility also includes such internal control as the council determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the statement that is accurately 
calculated and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

udit of the current year financial sustainability 
statement 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the current year financial 
sustainability statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

my opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of this statement.  

My responsibility does not extend to forming an opinion on the appropriateness or relevance 
of the reported ratios, nor on the c

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the statement, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the council. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the statement, including the 
disclosures, and whether the statement represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 



I communicate with the council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

25 September 2019 

Patrick Flemming Queensland Audit Office 
as delegate of the Auditor-General Brisbane 



Cairns Regional Council

Appendix A
For the year ended 30 June 2019

THE FOLLOWING REPORT DOES NOT FORM PART OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS. IT HAS BEEN PROVIDED AS ADDITIONAL MANAGEMENT INFORMATION TO
ASSIST THE READER IN THEIR ANALYSIS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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Cairns Regional Council 

Long-Term Financial Sustainability Statement 

Prepared as at 30 June 2019 

Measures of Financial Sustainability 

Measure 

Operating surplus ratio* Net result divided by total operating 
revenue 

Net financial liabilities ratio Total liabilities less current assets divided 
by total operating revenue 

Asset sustainability ratio Capital expenditure on the replacement of 
assets (renewals) divided by depreciation 
expense. 

Target 

Between 
0% and 

10% 

not greater 
than 60% 

greater 
than 90% 

Actuals at 
30 June 30 June 30 June 

2019 2020 2021 

(2%) 0% 0% 

48% 56% 64% 

106% 131% 124% 

Projected for the years ended 

30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

65% 62% 73% 84% 72% 63% 51% 

115% 97% 95% 87% 86% 98% 95% 

* Included in the operating surplus ratio for the year ended 30 June 2019 is $6.6M of Enterprise Resource Planning software implementation costs that are not expected to be recurrent.
Council is satisfied that it has sufficient revenue to cover operational and capital funding expenditure.

Cairns Regional Council's Financial Management Strategy 

Council aims to operate within a set of conservative guide-posts to ensure we are financially sustainable in the short, medium and long term. As part of our financial strategy, we have the 
above three sustainability indicators that have been set by the Department of Local Government, Racing and Multicultural Affairs to help monitor the long-term sustainability of all councils 
across Queensland. Throughout the financial year, these indicators are calculated and reported on monthly at Council meetings, as part of a full suite of financial reports. Should there be 
any deviation outside these parameters, the executive management and Council will be fully informed and may take corrective action as required. 

The above ratios have been calculated using Council's most recently adopted budget review. 

Certificate of Accuracy 

For the long-term financial sustainability statement prepared as at 30 June 2019 

This long-term financial sustainability statement has been prepared pursuant to Section 178 of the Local Government Regulation 2012 (the regulation). 
In accordance with Section 212(5) of the Regulation we certify that this long-term financial sustainability statement has been accurately calculated. 

Terry James 
Acting Mayor 
25 September 2019 

u 
John Andrejic 
Chief Executive Officer 
25 September 2019 
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